## NON-REPRESENTABLE HYPERBOLIC MATROIDS

## NIMA AMINI AND PETTER BRÄNDÉN

ABSTRACT. The generalized Lax conjecture asserts that each hyperbolicity cone is a linear slice of the cone of positive semidefinite matrices. Hyperbolic polynomials give rise to a class of (hyperbolic) matroids which properly contains the class of matroids representable over the complex numbers. This connection was used by the second author to construct counterexamples to algebraic (stronger) versions of the generalized Lax conjecture by considering a non-representable hyperbolic matroid. The Vámos matroid and a generalization of it are, prior to this work, the only known instances of non-representable hyperbolic matroids.

We prove that the Non–Pappus and Non–Desargues matroids are nonrepresentable hyperbolic matroids by exploiting a connection between Euclidean Jordan algebras and projective geometries. We further identify a large class of hyperbolic matroids which contains the Vámos matroid and the generalized Vámos matroids recently studied by Burton, Vinzant and Youm. This proves a conjecture of Burton *et al.* We also prove that many of the matroids considered here are non–representable. The proof of hyperbolicity for the matroids in the class depends on proving nonnegativity of certain symmetric polynomials. In particular we generalize and strengthen several inequalities in the literature, such as the Laguerre–Turán inequality and an inequality due to Jensen. Finally we explore consequences to algebraic versions of the generalized Lax conjecture.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Hyperbolic and stable polynomials	2
3.	Hyperbolic polymatroids	5
4.	Projections and face lattices of hyperbolicity cones	6
5.	Hyperbolic matroids and Euclidean Jordan algebras	9
6.	Generalized Vámos Matroids with the (weak) half–plane property	11
7.	Consequences for the generalized Lax conjecture	15
8.	Nonnegative symmetric polynomials	18
9.	Proof of Theorem 6.6	22
10.	Representability and minor closure	26
References		30

The second author is a Wallenberg Academy Fellow supported by a grant from the Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation, and the Swedish Research Council (VR).

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Although hyperbolic polynomials have their origin in PDE theory, they have during recent years been studied in diverse areas such as control theory, optimization, real algebraic geometry, probability theory, computer science and combinatorics, see [35, 36, 39, 40] and the references therein. To each hyperbolic polynomial is associated a closed convex (hyperbolicity) cone. Over the past 20 years methods have been developed to do optimization over hyperbolicity cones, which generalize semidefinite programming. A problem that has received considerable interest is the generalized Lax conjecture which asserts that each hyperbolicity cone is a linear slice of the cone of positive semidefinite matrices (of some size). Hence if the generalized Lax conjecture is true then hyperbolic programming is the same as semidefinite programming.

Choe et al. [11] and Gurvits [20] proved that hyperbolic polynomials give rise to a class of matroids, called hyperbolic matroids or matroids with the weak halfplane property. The class of hyperbolic matroids properly contains the class of matroids which are representable over the complex numbers, see [11, 41]. This fact was used by the second author [7] to construct counterexamples to algebraic (stronger) versions of the generalized Lax conjecture. To better understand, and to identify potential counterexamples to the generalized Lax conjecture, it is therefore of interest to study hyperbolic matroids which are not representable over  $\mathbb{C}$ , or even better not representable over any (skew) field. However previous to this work essentially just two such matroids were known: The Vámos matroid  $V_8$  [41] and a generalization  $V_{10}$  [10]. In this paper we first show that the Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues matroids are hyperbolic (but not representable over any field) by utilizing a known connection between hyperbolic polynomials and Euclidean Jordan algebras. Then, in Theorem 6.5, we construct a family of hyperbolic matroids which are parametrized by uniform hypergraphs, and prove that many of these matroids fail to be representable over any field, and more generally over any modular lattice. The proof of the main result is involved and uses several ingredients. In order to prove that the polynomials coming from our family of matroids are hyperbolic we need to prove that certain symmetric polynomials are nonnegative. The results obtained generalize and strengthen several inequalities in the literature, such as the Laguerre–Turán inequality and an inequality due to Jensen. Finally we explore some consequences to algebraic versions of the generalized Lax conjecture.

## 2. Hyperbolic and stable polynomials

A homogeneous polynomial  $h(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  is hyperbolic with respect to a vector  $\mathbf{e} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  if  $h(\mathbf{e}) \neq 0$ , and if for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  the univariate polynomial  $t \mapsto h(t\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x})$  has only real zeros. Note that if h is a hyperbolic polynomial of degree d, then we may write

$$h(t\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x}) = h(\mathbf{e}) \prod_{j=1}^{d} (t - \lambda_j(\mathbf{x})),$$

where

$$\lambda_{\max}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1(\mathbf{x}) \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_d(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{x})$$

are called the *eigenvalues* of  $\mathbf{x}$  (with respect to  $\mathbf{e}$ ). The *hyperbolicity cone* of h with respect to  $\mathbf{e}$  is the set  $\Lambda_+(h, \mathbf{e}) = \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : \lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0\}$ . We usually abbreviate and write  $\Lambda_+$  if there is no risk for confusion. We denote by  $\Lambda_{++}$  the interior  $\Lambda_+$ .

**Example 2.1.** An important example of a hyperbolic polynomial is det(X), where  $X = (x_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$  is a symmetric matrix with  $\binom{n+1}{2}$  indeterminate entries. If X is a real symmetric  $n \times n$  matrix and  $I_n$  is the identity matrix of size  $n \times n$ , then  $t \mapsto det(tI_n - X)$  is the characteristic polynomial of a real symmetric matrix, so it has only real zeros. Hence det(X) is a hyperbolic polynomial with respect to  $I_n$ , and its hyperbolicity cone is the cone of positive semidefinite matrices.

The real linear space of complex hermitian matrices of size n is parametrized by matrices X in  $n^2$  variables, and as above it follows that det(X) is a hyperbolic polynomial.

The next theorem follows from a theorem of Helton and Vinnikov [22], see [29]. It proved the Lax conjecture, after Peter Lax [28].

**Theorem 2.2.** Suppose that h(x, y, z) is of degree d and hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e} = (e_1, e_2, e_3)^T$ . Suppose further that h is normalized such that  $h(\mathbf{e}) = 1$ . Then there are symmetric  $d \times d$  matrices A, B, C such that  $e_1A + e_2B + e_3C = I_d$  and

$$h(x, y, z) = \det(xA + yB + zC).$$

Remark 2.3. The exact analogue of the Helton-Vinnikov theorem fails for n > 3 variables. This may be seen by comparing dimensions. The space of degree d polynomials on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of the form  $\det(x_1A_1 + \cdots x_nA_n)$  with  $A_i$  symmetric for  $1 \le i \le n$ , has dimension at most  $n\binom{d+1}{2}$  whereas the space of hyperbolic polynomials on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  has dimension  $\binom{n+d-1}{d}$ .

A convex cone in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is *spectrahedral* if it is of the form

$$\left\{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : \sum_{i=1}^n x_i A_i \text{ is positive semidefinite} \right\}$$

where  $A_i$ , i = 1, ..., n are symmetric matrices such that there exists a vector  $(y_1, ..., y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\sum_{i=1}^n y_i A_i$  positive definite. It is easy to see that spectrahedral cones are hyperbolicity cones. Indeed if  $A_1, ..., A_n$  are real symmetric  $d \times d$  matrices and  $\mathbf{e} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a vector such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n e_i A_i$  is positive definite, then  $h(\mathbf{x}) = \det(\sum_{i=1}^n x_i A_i) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, ..., x_n]$  is a hyperbolic polynomial with respect to  $\mathbf{e}$ , since for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we have that  $\det(tI_d - \sum_{i=1}^n x_i A_i) \in \mathbb{R}[t]$  is the characteristic polynomial of a real symmetric matrix and hence real-rooted. Therefore the hyperbolicity cone of  $h(\mathbf{x})$  is precisely the spectrahedral cone  $\{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : \sum_{i=1}^n x_i A_i \text{ is positive definite}\}$ . A major open question asks if the converse is true.

**Conjecture 2.4** (Generalized Lax conjecture (geometric version) [22, 39]). All hyperbolicity cones are spectrahedral.

We may reformulate Conjecture 2.4 as follows, see [22, 39].

**Conjecture 2.5** (Generalized Lax conjecture (algebraic version) [22, 39]). If  $h(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[\mathbf{x}]$  is hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e} = (e_1, \ldots, e_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , then there exists a polynomial  $q(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[\mathbf{x}]$ , hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e}$ , such that  $\Lambda_{++}(h, \mathbf{e}) \subseteq \Lambda_{++}(q, \mathbf{e})$ 

and

$$q(\mathbf{x})h(\mathbf{x}) = \det\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i A_i\right)$$
(2.1)

for some real symmetric matrices  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  of the same size such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n e_i A_i$ is positive definite.

Here is an overview of known facts regarding Conjecture 2.4.

- Conjecture 2.4 is true for n = 3 by Theorem 2.2,
- Conjecture 2.4 is true for homogeneous cones [13], i.e., cones for which the automorphism group acts transitively on its interior,
- Conjecture 2.4 is true for quadratic polynomials, see e.g. [32],
- Conjecture 2.4 is true for elementary symmetric polynomials, see [8],
- Conjecture 2.4 is true for certain multivariate generalizations of matching and independence polynomials, see [1],
- Conjecture 2.4 is true for the first derivative relaxation of the positive semidefinite cone, see [38],
- Weaker versions of Conjecture 2.4 are true for smooth hyperbolic polynomials, see [27, 31].
- Stronger algebraic versions of Conjecture 2.4 are false, see [7].

A class of polynomials which is intimately connected to hyperbolic polynomials is the class of stable polynomials. Below we will collect a few facts about stable polynomials that will be needed in forthcoming sections. A polynomial  $P(\mathbf{x}) \in$  $\mathbb{C}[x_1,\ldots,x_n]$  is stable if  $P(z_1,\ldots,z_n) \neq 0$  whenever  $\mathrm{Im}(z_j) > 0$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq n$ . Stable polynomials satisfy the following basic closure properties, see e.g. [40].

**Lemma 2.6.** Let  $P(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  be a stable polynomial of degree  $d_i$  in  $x_i$  for i = $1, \ldots, n$ . Then for all  $i = 1, \ldots, n$  we have

- (i) Specialization:  $P(x_1, \ldots, x_{i-1}, \zeta, x_{i+1}, \ldots, x_n)$  is stable or identically zero for each  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Im}(\zeta) \geq 0$ .
- (ii) Scaling:  $P(x_1, \ldots, x_{i-1}, \lambda x_i, x_{i+1}, \ldots, x_n)$  is stable for all  $\lambda > 0$ . (iii) Inversion:  $x_i^{d_i} P(x_1, \ldots, x_{i-1}, -x_i^{-1}, x_{i+1}, \ldots, x_n)$  is stable. (iv) Permutation:  $P(x_{\sigma(1)}, \ldots, x_{\sigma(n)})$  is stable for all  $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ .

- (v) Differentiation:  $(\partial/\partial x_i)P(x_1,\ldots,x_n)$  is stable.

Hyperbolic and stable polynomials are related as follows, see [5, Prop. 1.1] and [11,Thm. 6.1].

**Lemma 2.7.** Let  $P \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  be a homogenous polynomial. Then P is stable if and only if P is hyperbolic with  $\mathbb{R}^n_+ \subseteq \Lambda_+$ .

Moreover all non-zero Taylor coefficients of a homogeneous and stable polynomial have the same phase, i.e., the quotient of any two non-zero coefficients is a positive real number.

**Lemma 2.8** (Lemma 4.3 in [7]). If  $h \in \mathbb{R}[y_1, \ldots, y_n]$  is a hyperbolic polynomial,  $\mathbf{v}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_m \in \Lambda_+$  and  $\mathbf{v}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , then the polynomial

$$P(\mathbf{x}) = h(\mathbf{v}_0 + x_1\mathbf{v}_1 + \dots + x_m\mathbf{v}_m)$$

is either identically zero or stable.

#### 3. Hyperbolic polymatroids

We refer to [34] for undefined matroid terminology. The connection between hyperbolic/stable polynomials and matroids was first realized in [11]. A polynomial is *multiaffine* provided that each variable occurs at most to the first power. Choe *et al.* [11] proved that if

$$P(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{B \subseteq [m]} a(B) \prod_{i \in B} x_i \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, \dots, x_m]$$
(3.1)

is a homogeneous, multiaffine and stable polynomial, then its support

$$\mathcal{B} = \{B : a(B) \neq 0\}$$

is the set of bases of a matroid,  $\mathcal{M}$ , on [m]. Such matroids are called *weak half-plane* property matroids (abbreviated WHPP-matroids). If further  $P(\mathbf{x})$  can be chosen so that  $a(B) \in \{0, 1\}$ , then  $\mathcal{M}$  is called a *half-plane property matroid* (abbreviated HPP-matroid). If so, then  $P(\mathbf{x})$  is the *bases generating polynomial* of  $\mathcal{M}$ . Here are a few known facts regarding WHPP or HPP matroids.

- All matroids representable over  $\mathbb{C}$  are WHPP, [11].
- A binary matroid is WHPP if and only if it is HPP, and if and only if it is regular, [9, 11].
- No finite projective geometry PG(r, n) is WHPP, [9, 11].
- The Vámos matroid  $V_8$  is HPP (but not representable over any field), [41].

We shall now see how weak half-plane property matroids may conveniently be described in terms of hyperbolic polynomials.

Let E be a finite set. A polymatroid is a function  $r: 2^E \to \mathbb{N}$  satisfying

- (i)  $r(\emptyset) = 0$ ,
- (ii)  $r(S) \leq r(T)$  whenever  $S \subseteq T \subseteq E$ ,
- (iii) r is semimodular, i.e.,

$$r(S) + r(T) \ge r(S \cap T) + r(S \cup T),$$

for all  $S, T \subseteq E$ .

Recall that rank functions of matroids on E coincide polymatroids r on E with  $r(\{i\}) \leq 1$  for all  $i \in E$ .

Let  $\mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{v}_1, \dots, \mathbf{v}_m)$  be a tuple of vectors in  $\Lambda_+(h, \mathbf{e})$ , where  $\mathbf{e} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . The *(hyperbolic) rank*,  $\operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{x})$ , of  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is defined to be the number of non-zero eigenvalues of  $\mathbf{x}$ , i.e.,  $\operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{x}) = \operatorname{deg} h(\mathbf{e} + t\mathbf{x})$ . Define a function  $r_{\mathcal{V}} : 2^{[m]} \to \mathbb{N}$ , where  $[m] := \{1, 2, \dots, m\}$ , by

$$r_{\mathcal{V}}(S) = \operatorname{rk}\left(\sum_{i\in S}\mathbf{v}_i\right).$$

It follows from [20] (see also [7]) that  $r_{\mathcal{V}}$  is a polymatroid. We call such polymatroids *hyperbolic polymatroids*. Hence if the vectors in  $\mathcal{V}$  have rank at most one, then we obtain the hyperbolic rank function of a *hyperbolic matroid*.

**Example 3.1.** Let  $A_1 = \mathbf{u}_1 \mathbf{u}_1^*, \ldots, A_m = \mathbf{u}_m \mathbf{u}_m^*$  be PSD matrices of rank at most one in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . By Example 2.1 the function  $r: 2^{[m]} \to \mathbb{N}$  defined by

$$r(S) = \operatorname{rk}\left(\sum_{i \in S} A_i\right)$$

is the rank function of a hyperbolic matroid. It is not hard to see that r(S) is equal to the dimension of the subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  spanned by  $\{\mathbf{u}_i : i \in S\}$ . Hence r is the rank function of the linear matroid defined by  $\mathbf{u}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{u}_m$ .

# **Proposition 3.2.** A matroid is hyperbolic if and only it has the weak half-plane property.

*Proof.* Suppose  $\mathcal{B}$  is the set of bases of a matroid,  $\mathcal{M}$ , with the weak half-plane property realized by (3.1). By Lemma 2.7 we may assume that a(B) is a nonnegative real number for all  $B \subseteq [m]$ . Then  $P(\mathbf{x})$  is hyperbolic with hyperbolicity cone containing the positive orthant by Lemma 2.7. Let  $\mathcal{V} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_m)$ , be the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , and let  $\mathbf{1} = (1, \ldots, 1) \in \mathbb{R}^m$  be the all ones vector. Then

$$r_{\mathcal{V}}(S) = \operatorname{rk}\left(\sum_{i \in S} \delta_i\right) = \operatorname{deg} P\left(\mathbf{1} + t \sum_{i \in S} \delta_i\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{deg} \sum_B a(B)(1+t)^{|B \cap S|} = \max\{|B \cap S| : B \in \mathcal{B}\},$$

and hence  $r_{\mathcal{V}}$  is the rank function of  $\mathcal{M}$ .

Conversely, assume that h is hyperbolic, that  $\mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{v}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_m) \in \Lambda_+(h, \mathbf{e})^m$ , and that  $r_{\mathcal{V}}$  is the rank function of a hyperbolic matroid of rank r. We may assume  $h(\mathbf{e}) > 0$ . The polynomial  $g(x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_m) = h(x_0\mathbf{e} + x_1\mathbf{v}_1 + \cdots + x_m\mathbf{v}_m)$  is stable by Lemma 2.8 and has only nonnegative coefficients by Lemma 2.7. Since  $\mathbf{v}_i$  has rank at most one for each i we see that g has degree at most one in  $x_i$  for all  $i \ge 1$ . It follows that

$$g(\mathbf{x}) = x_0^{d-r} \sum_{i=0}^r g_i(x_1, \dots, x_m) x_0^{r-i},$$

where  $g_i(\mathbf{x})$  is a homogeneous and multiaffine polynomial of degree i for  $0 \leq i \leq r \leq d = \deg h$ . By dividing by  $x_0^{d-r}$  and setting  $x_0 = 0$ , we see that  $g_r(\mathbf{x})$  is stable by Lemma 2.6. Moreover B is a basis of the matroid defined by  $\mathcal{V}$  if and only if |B| = r and  $g(\delta_0 + t \sum_{i \in B} \delta_i)$  has degree d. This happens if and only if  $g_r(\sum_{i \in B} \delta_i) \neq 0$ , that is, if and only if B is in the support of  $g_r(\mathbf{x})$ .

#### 4. PROJECTIONS AND FACE LATTICES OF HYPERBOLICITY CONES

Let C be a closed convex cone in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . If  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in C$  and  $\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x} \in C$ , we write  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$ . Recall that a *face* F of a convex cone C is a convex subcone of C with the property that  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in C$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$  and  $\mathbf{y} \in F$  implies  $\mathbf{x} \in F$ . Equivalently a face is a convex subcone of C such that for each open line segment in C that intersects F, the closure of the segment is contained in F. The collection of all faces of C is a lattice, L(C), under containment with smallest element  $\{0\}$  and largest element C. Clearly  $F \wedge G = F \cap G$  and  $F \vee G = \bigcap_H H$ , where H ranges over all faces containing F and G. The collection of all relative interiors of faces of C partitions C. If  $F_{\mathbf{x}}$  is the unique face that contains  $\mathbf{x} \in C$  in its relative interior, then  $F_{\mathbf{x}} \vee F_{\mathbf{y}} = F_{\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{y}}$ . See [37] for more on the face lattices of convex cones.

The rank of a face F of the hyperbolicity cone  $\Lambda_+$  is defined by

$$\operatorname{rk}(F) = \max_{\mathbf{x} \in F} \operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{x})$$

Note that if  $L(\Lambda_+)$  is a graded lattice, then the above hyperbolic rank function is not necessarily the rank function of  $L(\Lambda_+)$ .

**Lemma 4.1** (Thm 26, [36]). Let F be a face of  $\Lambda_+$  and let  $\mathbf{x} \in F$ . Then  $\operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{x}) = \operatorname{rk}(F)$  if and only if  $\mathbf{x}$  is in the relative interior of F.

By Lemma 4.1 and the semimodularity of hyperbolic polymatroids we see that  $\operatorname{rk}: L(\Lambda_+) \to \mathbb{N}$  is *semimodular*, that is,

$$\operatorname{rk}(F \lor G) + \operatorname{rk}(F \land G) \le \operatorname{rk}(F) + \operatorname{rk}(G)$$

for all  $F, G \in L(\Lambda_+)$ . We may therefore equivalently define a hyperbolic polymatroid in terms of the face lattice of the hyperbolicity cone as follows: If  $\mathcal{F} = (F_1, \ldots, F_m)$  is a tuple of elements of the face lattice  $L(\Lambda_+)$ , then the function  $r_{\mathcal{F}}: 2^{[m]} \to \mathbb{N}$  defined by

$$r_{\mathcal{F}}(S) = \operatorname{rk}\left(\bigvee_{i\in S} F_i\right)$$

is a hyperbolic polymatroid.

The following theorem collects a few fundamental facts about hyperbolic polynomials and their hyperbolicity cones. For proofs see [21, 36].

**Theorem 4.2** (Gårding, [21]). Suppose h is hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

- (i)  $\Lambda_{+}(\mathbf{e})$  and  $\Lambda_{++}(\mathbf{e})$  are convex cones.
- (ii)  $\Lambda_{++}(\mathbf{e})$  is the connected component of

$$\{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : h(\mathbf{x}) \neq 0\}$$

which contains e.

- (iii)  $\lambda_{\min} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is a concave function, and  $\lambda_{\max} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is a convex function.
- (iv) If  $\mathbf{e}' \in \Lambda_{++}(\mathbf{e})$ , then h is hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e}'$  and  $\Lambda_{++}(\mathbf{e}') = \Lambda_{++}(\mathbf{e})$ .

Recall that the *lineality space* of a convex cone C is  $C \cap -C$ , i.e., the largest linear space contained in C. It follows that the lineality space of a hyperbolicity cone is  $\{\mathbf{x} : \lambda_i(\mathbf{x}) = 0 \text{ for all } i\}$ , see e.g. [36]. Also if  $\mathbf{x}$  is in the lineality space, then  $\lambda_i(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{y}) = \lambda_i(\mathbf{y})$  for all  $1 \le i \le d$  and  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  [36].

By homogeneity of h

$$\lambda_j(s\mathbf{x} + t\mathbf{e}) = \begin{cases} s\lambda_j(\mathbf{x}) + t & \text{if } s \ge 0 \text{ and} \\ s\lambda_{d-j+1}(\mathbf{x}) + t & \text{if } s \le 0 \end{cases},$$
(4.1)

for all  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

In analogy with the eigenvalue characterization of matrix projections we define projections in  $\Lambda_+$  as follows.

**Definition 4.3.** An element in  $\Lambda_+$  is a *projection* if its eigenvalues are contained in  $\{0, 1\}$ .

*Remark* 4.4. Note that **0**, **e** and appropriate multiples of rank one vectors in  $\Lambda_+$  are always projections.

**Lemma 4.5.** Suppose  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_+$  are such that  $F_{\mathbf{x}} \leq F_{\mathbf{y}}$  and  $\operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{y}) = r$ . If  $\lambda_1(\mathbf{x}) \leq \lambda_r(\mathbf{y})$ , then  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$ .

In particular if  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_+$  are projections, then  $F_{\mathbf{x}} \leq F_{\mathbf{y}}$  if and only if  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_+$  are such that  $F_{\mathbf{x}} \leq F_{\mathbf{y}}$ ,  $\operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{y}) = r$  and  $\lambda_1(\mathbf{x}) \leq \lambda_r(\mathbf{y})$ . Consider the polynomial

$$g(u, s, t) = h(u\mathbf{e} + s\mathbf{y} + t\mathbf{x}),$$

which is hyperbolic with respect to (1, 0, 0) and whose hyperbolicity cone contains the positive orthant. Since  $\mathbf{x} \in F_{\mathbf{y}}$  we know that  $\operatorname{rk}(a\mathbf{x} + b\mathbf{y}) = r$  for all a, b > 0. Since all non-zero Taylor coefficients of g(u, s, t) have the same sign, by Lemma 2.7, we may write

$$g(u, s, t) = u^{d-r} g_0(u, s, t), \quad d = \deg h,$$

where  $g_0(u, s, t)$  is hyperbolic with respect to (1, 0, 0) and also (0, 1, 0), and its hyperbolicity cone contains the positive orthant. Let  $\lambda'_j(a, b, c), j = 1, \ldots, r$ , denote the eigenvalues of  $g_0$  (with respect to (1, 0, 0)). Then by (4.1) and the concavity of  $\lambda'_r$  (Theorem 4.2):

$$\lambda'_{r}(0,1,-1) \ge \lambda'_{r}(0,1,0) + \lambda'_{r}(0,0,-1) = \lambda_{r}(\mathbf{y}) - \lambda_{1}(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0.$$

By construction  $\lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}) = \min\{0, \lambda'_r(0, 1, -1)\}$ , and the lemma follows.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.6.** If  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_+$  are projections with  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$ , then  $\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}$  is a projection with

$$rk(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}) = rk(\mathbf{y}) - rk(\mathbf{x}).$$

*Proof.* Suppose first that  $F_{\mathbf{y}} = \Lambda_+ = F_{\mathbf{e}}$ . Then  $\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{e}, \mathbf{e} - \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_+$  by Lemma 4.5, and hence  $\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{e}$  is in the lineality space of  $\Lambda_+$ . Then

$$\lambda_i(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}) = \lambda_i(\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x}) = 1 - \lambda_{d-i+1}(\mathbf{x}),$$

for all  $1 \le i \le d = \deg h$ , and hence  $\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}$  is a projection of rank  $d - \operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{x})$ . If  $F_{\mathbf{y}} \ne F_{\mathbf{e}}$ , then  $r := \operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{y}) < d$ . Consider the hyperbolic polynomial

$$g(u, s, t) = h(u\mathbf{e} + s\mathbf{x} + t\mathbf{y}) = u^{d-r}g_0(u, s, t),$$

where  $g_0$  is hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e}' = (1, 0, 0)$ . It follows that  $\mathbf{x}' = (0, 1, 0)$  and  $\mathbf{y}' = (0, 0, 1)$  are projections with  $F_{\mathbf{e}'} = F_{\mathbf{y}'}$ . The lemma now follows from the first case considered.

Remark 4.7. Note that if  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$  and  $\mathbf{y} \leq \mathbf{x}$ , then  $\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}$  is in the lineality space of  $\Lambda_+$ . Moreover  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$  if and only if  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{y} \leq \mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x}$ . Since  $F_{\mathbf{e}} = \Lambda_+$  we have by Lemma 4.5 that  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{e}$  for all projections  $\mathbf{x} \in \Lambda_+$ . Hence by Lemma 4.6 it follows that  $\mathbf{x}$  is a projection if and only if  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x}$  is a projection.

The following proposition gives a sufficient condition for two faces in  $\Lambda_+$  to be modular with respect to the hyperbolic rank function.

**Proposition 4.8.** If  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_+$  are projections such that  $F_{\mathbf{x}} \wedge F_{\mathbf{y}}, F_{\mathbf{x}} \vee F_{\mathbf{y}}, F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{x}} \wedge F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{y}}$  and  $F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{x}} \vee F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{y}}$  all contain a projection in their relative interiors, then

$$\operatorname{rk}(F_{\mathbf{x}}) + \operatorname{rk}(F_{\mathbf{y}}) = \operatorname{rk}(F_{\mathbf{x}} \wedge F_{\mathbf{y}}) + \operatorname{rk}(F_{\mathbf{x}} \vee F_{\mathbf{y}}).$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}, \mathbf{v}', \mathbf{w}'$  be the projections in the relative interiors of  $F_{\mathbf{x}} \wedge F_{\mathbf{y}}, F_{\mathbf{x}} \vee F_{\mathbf{y}}$ ,  $F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{x}} \wedge F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{y}}$  and  $F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{x}} \vee F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{y}}$ , respectively. Then  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{w} \leq \mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{w} \leq \mathbf{e} - \mathbf{y}$ , so that  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{w} \in F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{x}} \wedge F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{y}}$  by Lemma 4.5. By Lemma 4.5 again,  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{w} \leq \mathbf{v}'$ . We also have  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{v}' \geq \mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{v}' \geq \mathbf{y}$  so that  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{v}' \geq \mathbf{w}$ , that is,  $\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{w} \geq \mathbf{v}'$ . Thus  $F_{\mathbf{v}'} = F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{w}}$  and analogously  $F_{\mathbf{w}'} = F_{\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{v}}$ . Since  $\mathrm{rk} : L(\Lambda_+) \to \mathbb{N}$  is semimodular we have

$$rk(\mathbf{x}) + rk(\mathbf{y}) \ge rk(\mathbf{v}) + rk(\mathbf{w}),$$



FIGURE 1. The Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues configurations.

and also

$$\operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{x}) + \operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{y}) \ge \operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{w}) + \operatorname{rk}(\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{v}),$$

and so the proposition follows from Lemma 4.6.

**Corollary 4.9.** Let  $\Lambda_+(h, \mathbf{e})$  be a hyperbolicity cone with trivial lineality space. Suppose all extreme rays of  $\Lambda_+$  have the same hyperbolic rank, and that each face of  $\Lambda_+$  contains a projection in its relative interior. Then  $L(\Lambda_+)$  is a modular geometric lattice.

*Proof.* Since each face of  $L(\Lambda_+)$  except  $\{0\}$  is generated by extreme rays, see e.g. [37, Cor. 18.5.2], it follows that  $L(\Lambda_+)$  is atomic with all atoms (extreme rays) having the same hyperbolic rank by hypothesis. Suppose  $rk(\mathbf{a}) = c$  for all atoms  $\mathbf{a} \in L(\Lambda_+)$ . By modularity of the hyperbolic rank function (Proposition 4.8) and induction we see that c divides rk(F) for all  $F \in L(\Lambda_+)$ . It follows that the function defined by rk(F)/c is the proper rank function of  $L(\Lambda_+)$ , since it is modular and equal to one on each atom.

## 5. Hyperbolic matroids and Euclidean Jordan Algebras

In light of the generalized Lax conjecture it is of interest to find hyperbolic but non-linear (poly-) matroids. Until present the only known instances of non-linear hyperbolic matroids are the Vámos matroid [41] and a generalization of it [10]. The generalized Vámos matroids introduced in the following section provide an infinite family of such matroids. In this section we identify two further types of matroids that are hyperbolic but not linear through a connection with Euclidean Jordan algebras and projective geometry.

Some classical examples of non-linear matroids are obtained by relaxing a circuit hyperplane in a matroid that comes from a geometric configuration. In fact the Non-Fano, Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues matroids (see Fig 1) are all derived from the family  $n_3$  of symmetric configurations on n points and n lines, arranged such that 3 lines pass through each point and 3 points lie on each line [19]. Note that such configurations need not be unique up to incidence isomorphism for given n. The Non-Fano, Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues matroids are all rank three matroids corresponding respectively to instances of the configurations  $7_3$ ,  $9_3$  and  $10_3$ after removing one line. It is interesting to note how representability diminishes as we move upwards in this hierarchy: The Non-Fano matroid is representable over

all fields that do not have characteristic 2 [34]. The Non-Pappus matroid is skewlinear but not linear [23], which is to say that it only admits representations over non-commutative division rings e.g. the quaternions  $\mathbb{H}$ . Moreover it is known that the Non-Desargues matroid is not even skew-linear [23]. On the other hand, it is known that the Non-Desargues matroid can be coordinatized by rank one projections over the octonions  $\mathbb{O}$ , see e.g. [18]. The octonions form a non-commutative and non-associative division ring over the reals.

An algebra  $(A, \circ)$  over a field K is said to be a Jordan algebra if for all  $a, b \in A$ 

$$a \circ b = b \circ a$$
 and  $a \circ ((a \circ a) \circ b) = (a \circ a) \circ (a \circ b).$ 

Note in particular that Jordan algebras are not necessarily associative. A Jordan algebra is *Euclidean* if

$$a_1^2 + \dots + a_k^2 = 0$$
 implies  $a_1 = \dots = a_k = 0$ 

for all  $a_1, \ldots, a_k \in A$ . By a theorem of Jordan, von Neumann and Wigner [25] the simple finite dimensional real Euclidean Jordan algebras classify into four infinite families and one exceptional algebra (the Albert algebra) as follows:

- (i)  $H_n(\mathbb{K})$  ( $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}$ ) the algebra of Hermitian  $n \times n$  matrices over  $\mathbb{K}$  with Jordan product  $a \circ b = \frac{1}{2}(ab + ba)$ .
- (ii)  $\mathbb{R}^n \oplus \mathbb{R}$  the real inner product space with inner product  $(u \oplus \lambda, v \oplus \mu) = (u, v)_{\mathbb{R}^n} + \lambda \mu$  and Jordan product  $(u \oplus \lambda) \circ (v \oplus \mu) = (\mu u + \lambda v) \oplus ((u, v)_{\mathbb{R}^n} + \lambda \mu)$ .
- (iii)  $H_3(\mathbb{O})$  the algebra of octonionic Hermitian  $3 \times 3$  matrices with Jordan product  $a \circ b = \frac{1}{2}(ab + ba)$ .

Let A be a real Euclidean Jordan algebra of rank r with identity e. A Jordan frame is a complete system of orthogonal idempotents of rank one, that is, rank one elements  $c_1, \ldots, c_r \in A$  such that  $c_i^2 = c_i, c_i \circ c_j = 0$  for  $i \neq j$  and  $c_1 + \cdots + c_r = e$ . A characteristic property of finite dimensional real Euclidean Jordan algebras is the following spectral theorem, see [17, Theorem III.1.2].

**Theorem 5.1.** Let A be a real Euclidean Jordan algebra of rank r. Then for each  $x \in A$  there exists a Jordan frame  $c_1, \ldots, c_r \in A$  and unique real numbers  $\lambda_1(x), \ldots, \lambda_r(x)$  (the eigenvalues) such that

$$x = \sum_{j=1}^{r} \lambda_j(x) c_j.$$

Moreover

$$\sum_{j:\lambda_j=\lambda} c_j$$

is uniquely determined for each eigenvalue  $\lambda$ .

A finite dimensional real Euclidean Jordan algebra is equipped with a hyperbolic determinant polynomial det :  $A \to \mathbb{R}$  given by

$$\det(x) = \prod_{j=1}^{r} \lambda_j(x).$$

Let P be a set of *points* and L a set of *lines*. Recall that a pair G = (P, L) is a *projective geometry* if the following axioms are satisfied:

- (i) For any two distinct points  $a, b \in P$  there is a unique line  $ab \in L$  containing a and b.
- (ii) Any line contains at least three points.
- (iii) If  $a, b, c, d \in P$  are distinct points such that  $ab \cap cd \neq \emptyset$  then  $ac \cap bd \neq \emptyset$ .

Each projective geometry is a (simple) modular geometric lattice, and each modular geometric lattice is a direct product of a Boolean algebra with projective geometries, see [2, p. 93]. The following proposition is essentially a known connection between Jordan algebras and projective geometries, which we prove here in the theory of hyperbolic polynomials.

**Proposition 5.2.** Let A be a finite dimensional real Euclidean Jordan algebra and let  $\Lambda_+$  denote the hyperbolicity cone of det :  $A \to \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $L(\Lambda_+)$  is a modular geometric lattice.

In particular if A is simple, then  $L(\Lambda_+)$  is a projective geometry.

*Proof.* By Theorem 5.1 the extreme rays of  $\Lambda_+$  are multiples of rank one idempotents. Also, a face  $F_x$  contains the projection

$$c = \sum_{j:\lambda_j(x) \neq 0} c_j$$

in its relative interior. The proposition now follows from Corollary 4.9.

The Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues configurations are depicted in Fig 1. The configurations give rise to rank 3 matroids where three points are dependent if and only if they are collinear. The Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues matroids are not linear but may be represented over the projective geometries associated to the Euclidean Jordan algebras  $H_3(\mathbb{H})$  and  $H_3(\mathbb{O})$ , respectively. This may be deduced from the coordinatizations in [34, Example 1.5.14] and [18]. Hence by Proposition 5.2 we have

**Theorem 5.3.** The Non-Pappus and Non-Desargues matroids are hyperbolic.

## 6. Generalized Vámos Matroids with the (weak) half-plane property

In this section we provide an infinite family of hyperbolic matroids that do not arise from modular geometric lattices. Suppose that L is a lattice with a smallest element  $\hat{0}$ , and  $f: L \to \mathbb{N}$  is a function satisfying

- (i)  $f(\hat{0}) = 0$ ,
- (ii) if  $x \leq y$ , then  $f(x) \leq f(y)$ ,
- (iii) for any  $x, y \in L$ ,

$$f(x) + f(y) \ge f(x \lor y) + f(x \land y).$$

If  $x_1, \ldots, x_m \in L$ , then the function  $r: 2^{[m]} \to \mathbb{N}$  defined by

$$r(S) = f\left(\bigvee_{i \in S} x_i\right)$$

defines a polymatroid. All polymatroids arise in this manner. Indeed if  $r : 2^{[m]} \to \mathbb{N}$  is a polymatroid, we may take  $L = 2^{[m]}$ , f = r, and  $x_i = \{i\}$  for each  $i \in [m]$ . However if f is modular, i.e.,

$$f(x) + f(y) = f(x \lor y) + f(x \land y), \quad \text{for all } x, y \in L,$$

we say that r is modularly represented. Hence all linear matroids as well as all projective geometries are modularly represented. Although Ingleton's proof [23] of the next lemma only concerns linear matroids it extends verbatim to modularly represented matroids.

**Lemma 6.1** (Ingleton's Inequality, [23]). Suppose  $r : 2^E \to \mathbb{N}$  is a modularly represented polymatroid and  $A, B, C, D \subseteq E$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} r(A\cup B) + r(A\cup C\cup D) + r(C) + r(D) + r(B\cup C\cup D) \leq \\ r(A\cup C) + r(A\cup D) + r(B\cup C) + r(B\cup D) + r(C\cup D). \end{aligned}$$

The Vámos matroid  $V_8$  is the rank-four matroid on E = [8] having set of bases

$$\mathcal{B}(V_8) = \binom{E}{4} \setminus \{\{1, 2, 3, 4\}, \{1, 2, 5, 6\}, \{1, 2, 7, 8\}, \{3, 4, 5, 6\}, \{5, 6, 7, 8\}\}.$$

The rank function of the Vámos matroid fails to satisfy Ingleton's inequality (see [23]), and hence it is not modularly represented. Nevertheless Wagner and Wei [41] proved that  $V_8$  has the half-plane property, and hence  $V_8$  is hyperbolic. This was used in [7] to provide counterexamples to stronger algebraic versions of the generalized Lax conjecture.

Burton, Vinzant and Youm [10] studied an infinite family of generalized Vámos matroids,  $\{V_{2n}\}_{n\geq 4}$ , and conjectured that all members of the family have the halfplane property. They proved their conjecture for n = 5. Below we generalize their construction and construct a family of matroids; one matroid for each uniform hypergraph. We prove that all matroids corresponding to simple graphs are HPP, and that all matroids corresponding to uniform hypergraphs are WHPP. In particular this will prove the conjecture of Burton *et al.* 

Recall that a rank r paving matroid is a matroid such that all its circuits have size at least r. Paving matroids may be characterized in terms of d-partition. A d-partition of a set E is a collection S of subsets of E all of size at least d, such that every d-subset of E lies in a unique member of S. The d-partition  $S = \{E\}$  is the trivial d-partition. For a proof of the next proposition see [34, Prop. 2.1.21].

**Proposition 6.2.** The hyperplanes of any rank  $d + 1 \ge 2$  paving matroid form a non-trivial d-partition.

Conversely, the elements of a non-trivial d-partition form the set of hyperplanes of a paving matroid of rank d + 1.

A paving matroid of rank r is sparse if its hyperplanes all have size r - 1 or r.

Recall that a hypergraph H consists of a set V(H) of vertices together with a set  $E(H) \subseteq 2^{V(H)}$  of hyperedges. We say that a hypergraph H is d-uniform if all hyperedges have size d.

**Theorem 6.3.** Let H be an d-uniform hypergraph on [n], and let  $E = \{1, 1', ..., n, n'\}$ . Let

$$\mathcal{B}(V_H) = \begin{pmatrix} E\\ 2d \end{pmatrix} \setminus \{e \cup e' : e \in E(H)\},\$$

in which  $e' := \{i' : i \in e\}$  for each  $e \in E(H)$ . Then  $\mathcal{B}(V_H)$  is the set of bases of a sparse paving matroid  $V_H$  of rank 2d.



*Proof.* Let

$$\mathcal{S} = \{e \cup e' : e \in E(H)\} \cup \left\{S \in \binom{E}{2d-1} : S \subset e \cup e' \text{ for no } e \in E(H)\right\}.$$

Then S is a (2d-1)-partition, and so it defines a sparse paving matroid with set of bases  $\binom{E}{2d} \setminus \{e \cup e' : e \in E(H)\}$  by Proposition 6.2.

Let  $\mathcal{V} = \{V_H : H \text{ is a } d\text{-uniform hypergraph on } [n] \text{ with } 0 < d \le n, n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$ 

**Example 6.4.** If G is the diamond graph (Fig 2a) then  $V_G = V_8$ , the Vámos matroid. Moreover  $V_{\bar{K}_n} = U_{4,2n}$ , where  $\bar{K}_n$  denotes the complement of the complete graph on n vertices and  $U_{4,2n}$  denotes the uniform rank 4 matroid on 2n elements. The family  $\{V_{2n}\}_{n\geq 4}$  studied by Burton *et al.* [10] corresponds to  $V_{G_n}$  where  $G_n$  is an n-cycle with edges  $\{1, i\}, i = 2, ..., n$ , adjoined.

We postpone the proofs of the next two theorems until Section 9.

**Theorem 6.5.** All matroids in  $\mathcal{V}$  are hyperbolic, i.e., they all have the weak halfplane property.

## **Theorem 6.6.** For each simple graph G, $V_G$ has the half-plane property.

If G contains the Diamond graph as an induced subgraph then the rank function of  $V_G$  fails to satisfy Ingleton's inequality, and thus  $V_G$  is hyperbolic but not modularly represented.

There is no full analogue of Theorem 6.6 in the hypergraph setting. To see this let H be the complete 3-uniform hypergraph on [6]. The bases generating polynomial of  $V_H$  is given by

$$h_{V_H}(\mathbf{x}) = e_6(x_1, x_{1'}, \dots, x_6, x_{6'}) - e_3(x_1 x_{1'}, \dots, x_6 x_{6'}).$$

By Lemma 2.7 we have that  $h_{V_H}(\mathbf{x})$  is stable if and only if  $h_{V_H}(\mathbf{x})$  is hyperbolic with  $\mathbb{R}^{12}_+ \subseteq \Lambda_+(h_{V_H})$ . Take  $\mathbf{e} = (1, 1, 0, \dots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^{12}_+$  and  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{12}$  with  $x_1 = x_{1'} = 0$ ,  $x_2 = x_{2'} = x_3 = x_{3'} = 2$  and  $x_i = x_{i'} = -1$  for i > 3. Then

$$h_{V_{tt}}(t\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{x}) = -4t^2 - 36t - 160$$

is a quadratic polynomial with non-real zeros  $t = \frac{9}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{79}i$ . Hence  $V_H$  does not have the half-plane property. Clearly if  $V_8$  is a minor of  $V_H$  then  $V_H$  cannot be representable. Below we give an example of a non-representable matroid  $V_H$  with no Vámos minor. Hence this constitutes a genuinely new instance of a hyperbolic matroid in the family which is not representable.

**Example 6.7.** The following linear rank inequality in six variables was identified by Dougherty *et al.* [15]

$$\begin{split} r(A\cup D) + r(B\cup C) + r(C\cup E) + r(E\cup F) + r(B\cup D\cup F) + r(A\cup B\cup C\cup D) + \\ r(A\cup B\cup C\cup E) + r(A\cup C\cup E\cup F) + r(A\cup D\cup E\cup F) \leq \\ r(A\cup B\cup C) + r(A\cup B\cup D) + r(A\cup C\cup E) + r(A\cup D\cup F) + r(A\cup E\cup F) + \\ r(B\cup C\cup D) + r(B\cup C\cup E) + r(C\cup E\cup F) + r(D\cup E\cup F). \end{split}$$

This inequality is satisfied by all polymatroids r representable over some field, where  $r: 2^{[n]} \to \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $A, B, C, D, E, F \subseteq [n]$ . We proceed by designing a 3-uniform hypergraph H on [6] such that  $V_H$  violates the above inequality. Let

 $A = \{1, 1'\}, B = \{2, 2'\}, C = \{3, 3'\}, D = \{4, 4'\}, E = \{5, 5'\}, F = \{6, 6'\}.$ By taking the hypergraph *U* with edges

By taking the hypergraph  ${\cal H}$  with edges

 $\{1, 2, 3\}, \{1, 2, 4\}, \{1, 3, 5\}, \{1, 4, 6\}, \{1, 5, 6\}, \{2, 3, 4\}, \{2, 3, 5\}, \{3, 5, 6\}, \{4, 5, 6\}$ 

we see that  $V_H$  violates the above inequality. One checks that  $V_8$  is not a minor of  $V_H$ .

## 7. Consequences for the generalized Lax conjecture

Helton and Vinnikov [22] conjectured that if a polynomial  $h \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  is hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{e} = (e_1, \ldots, e_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , then there exist positive integers M, N and a linear polynomial  $\ell(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  which is positive on  $\Lambda_{++}(h, \mathbf{e})$ such that

$$\ell(\mathbf{x})^{M-1}h(\mathbf{x})^N = \det\left(\sum_{i=1}^n x_i A_i\right)$$

for some symmetric matrices  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  such that  $e_1A_1 + \cdots + e_nA_n$  is positive definite. In [7] the second author used the bases generating polynomial  $h_{V_8}$  of the Vámos matroid to prove that there is no linear polynomial  $\ell(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ which is nonnegative on the hyperbolicity cone of  $h_{V_8}$  and positive integers M, Nsuch that

$$\ell(\mathbf{x})^{M-1}h_{V_8}(\mathbf{x})^N = \det\left(\sum_{i=1}^8 x_i A_i\right)$$

for some symmetric matrices  $A_1, \ldots, A_8$  with  $e_1A_1 + \cdots + e_8A_8$  positive definite. We will here construct further "counterexamples" that preclude more general factors  $q(\mathbf{x})$  in (2.1). First we prove two lemmata of matroid theoretic nature. If  $r: 2^E \to \mathbb{N}$  is a polymatroid and  $A \subseteq E$ , we say that A is spanning if r(A) = r(E). Moreover  $A \subset E$  is a hyperplane if it is a maximal non-spanning set.

**Lemma 7.1.** For  $n, r, c \ge 1$ , let  $\mathcal{P}(n, r, c)$  be the family of all polymatroids of rank at most r on n elements such that each hyperplane has at most r - 1 + c elements. If  $\alpha(n, r, c)$  denotes the maximal number of non-spanning sets of size r taken over all matroids in  $\mathcal{P}(n, r, c)$ , then

$$\alpha(n,r,c) \le c \binom{n}{r-1}.$$
(7.1)

*Proof.* If r = 1, then each hyperplane has at most c elements, i.e., there are at most c loops so that  $\alpha(n, r, c) = c$  as desired. The proof is by induction over  $n \ge 1$  where  $r \ge 1$ . The lemma is trivially true for n = 1.

Let  $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{P}(n, r, c)$ , where  $n, r \geq 2$ . If  $n \leq r$ , then (7.1) is trivially true. Assume n > r. Let *i* be a non-loop of  $\mathcal{P}$ . If  $r(E \setminus i) < r(E)$ , then  $E \setminus i$  is a hyperplane and hence  $n - 1 \leq r - 1 + c$ , so that  $\binom{n}{r} \leq c\binom{n}{r-1}$ . Hence we may assume  $r(E \setminus i) = r(E) > 0$ .

If S is a non-spanning r-set of  $\mathcal{P}$ , then either S is a non-spanning r-set of  $\mathcal{P} \setminus i$ , or  $S \setminus i$  is a non-spanning (r-1)-set of  $\mathcal{P}/i$ . Hence  $\mathcal{P} \setminus i \in \mathcal{P}(n-1,r,c)$  and  $\mathcal{P}/i \in \mathcal{P}(n-1,r-1,c)$ , and thus

$$\alpha(n,r,c) \le \alpha(n-1,r,c) + \alpha(n-1,r-1,c)$$
$$\le c \binom{n-1}{r-1} + c \binom{n-1}{r-2} = c \binom{n}{r-1},$$

by induction.

**Lemma 7.2.** Let  $\mathcal{P}_i$ , i = 1, ..., s, be polymatroids on [n] of rank at most k - 1 such that no hyperplane has more than k elements. If  $n \ge (2s+1)k-1$ , then there is a set S of size k such that there are at least two (k-1)-subsets of S that are spanning in all  $\mathcal{P}_i$ , i = 1, ..., s.

*Proof.* Suppose the conclusion is not true. Let

$$A = \left\{ (S,T) \in \binom{[n]}{k-1} \times \binom{[n]}{k} : S \subset T \text{ and } S \text{ is not spanning in } \mathcal{P}_i \text{ for some } i \in [s] \right\}$$

Then

$$|A| \ge (k-1)\binom{n}{k}.$$

Furthermore by Lemma 7.1 we have

$$\begin{aligned} |A| &= \# \left\{ S \subseteq \binom{[n]}{k-1} : S \text{ is not spanning in } \mathcal{P}_i \text{ for some } i \in [s] \right\} \cdot (n-k+1) \\ &\leq s\alpha(n,k-1,2)(n-k+1) \\ &\leq 2s \binom{n}{k-2}(n-k+1). \end{aligned}$$

Hence

$$(k-1)\binom{n}{k} \le 2s\binom{n}{k-2}(n-k+1).$$

Solving for n gives  $n \leq (2s+1)k - 2$ , which proves the lemma.

Given positive integers n and k, consider the k-uniform hypergraph  $H_{n,k}$  on [n+2] containing all hyperedges  $e \in \binom{[n+2]}{k}$  except those for which  $\{n+1, n+2\} \subseteq e$ . By Theorem 6.5 the matroid  $V_{H_{n,k}}$  is hyperbolic and therefore has a stable weighted bases generating polynomial  $h_{VH_{n,k}}$  by Proposition 3.2. The polynomial  $h_{n,k} \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_{n+2}]$  obtained from the multiaffine polynomial  $h_{VH_{n,k}}$  by identifying the variables  $x_i$  and  $x_{i'}$  pairwise for all  $i \in [n+2]$  is stable. Hence by Lemma 2.7 we have  $\mathbb{R}^{n+2}_+ \subseteq \Lambda_+(h_{n,k})$  so  $h_{n,k}$  is hyperbolic with respect to **1**.

**Theorem 7.3.** Let n and k be a positive integers. Suppose there exists a positive integer N and a hyperbolic polynomial  $q(\mathbf{x})$  such that

$$q(\mathbf{x})h_{n,k}(\mathbf{x})^N = \det\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n+2} x_i A_i\right)$$
(7.2)

with  $\Lambda_+(h_{n,k}) \subseteq \Lambda_+(q)$  for some symmetric matrices  $A_1, \ldots, A_{n+2}$  such that  $A_1 + \cdots + A_{n+2}$  is positive definite and

$$q(\mathbf{x}) = \prod_{i=1}^{s} p_j(\mathbf{x})^{\alpha_i}$$

for some irreducible hyperbolic polynomials  $p_1, \ldots, p_s \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_{n+2}]$  of degree at most k-1 where  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s$  are positive integers. Then

$$n < (2s+1)k - 1.$$

Proof. Suppose the hypotheses are satisfied and  $n \ge (2s+1)k-1$ . Let  $r_0: 2^{[n]} \to \mathbb{N}$  be the hyperbolic polymatroid defined by  $h_{n,k}$  and  $\mathcal{V} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_n)$ , where  $\delta_i, i \in [n]$  are the standard basis vectors. Hence  $r_0(S)$  is the rank of  $S \cup \{i' : i \in S\}$  in the matroid  $V_{H_{n,k}}$ . Moreover, for  $i \in [s]$ , let  $r_i: 2^{[n]} \to \mathbb{N}$  be the hyperbolic polymatroid defined by  $p_i$  and  $\mathcal{V} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_n)$ . Any subset S of [n] of size at least k + 1 is spanning for  $r_0$ , and thus  $\sum_{i \in S} \delta_i \in \Lambda_{++}(h_{n,k})$ . Hence  $\sum_{i \in S} \delta_i \in \Lambda_{++}(p_i)$ , and thus S is spanning with respect to  $r_i$  for all  $i \in [s]$ . By Lemma 7.2, since  $n \ge (2s+1)k-1$ , there exists a subset  $T \subseteq [n]$  of size k containing at least two distinct subsets X, Y of size k-1 with full rank with respect to all hyperbolic polymatroids  $r_i, i = 1, \ldots, s$ . Let  $x, y \in T$  be the unique elements in X, Y, respectively, not contained in  $Z = X \cap Y$ . Define

$$A = Z \cup \{n+1\}, \quad B = Z \cup \{n+2\}, \quad C = Z \cup \{x\}, \quad D = Z \cup \{y\}.$$

Now  $A \cup B, A \cup C \cup D$  and  $B \cup C \cup D$  have full rank with respect to  $r_0$ . Since  $\Lambda_{++}(h_{n,k}) \subseteq \Lambda_{++}(p_i)$  for all *i*, we see that  $A \cup B, A \cup C \cup D$  and  $B \cup C \cup D$  have full rank with respect to  $r_i$  for all *i*. Hence the rank of each set to the left in the Ingleton inequality have full rank with respect to  $r_i$ , so that

$$r_i(A \cup B) + r_i(A \cup C \cup D) + r_i(C) + r_i(D) + r_i(B \cup C \cup D) \ge$$
  
$$r_i(A \cup C) + r_i(A \cup D) + r_i(B \cup C) + r_i(B \cup D) + r_i(C \cup D)$$

for  $i = 1, \ldots, s$ . Note also that

$$\begin{split} r_0(A\cup B) + r_0(A\cup C\cup D) + r_0(C) + r_0(D) + r_0(B\cup C\cup D) = \\ 2k + 2k + (2k-2) + (2k-2) + 2k > (2k-1) + (2k-1) + (2k-1) + (2k-1) + (2k-1) + (2k-1) = \\ r_0(A\cup C) + r_0(A\cup D) + r_0(B\cup C) + r_0(B\cup D) + r_0(C\cup D). \end{split}$$

Thus  $r_0$  violates the Ingleton inequality. Let  $\mathcal{R}$  denote the representable polymatroid with rank function

$$r_{\mathcal{R}}(S) = \operatorname{rank}\left(\sum_{i\in S} A_i\right).$$

for all  $S \subseteq [n]$ . Then, by (7.2),

$$r_{\mathcal{R}}(S) = \operatorname{rank}\left(\sum_{i \in S} A_i\right) = \sum_{i=1}^s \alpha_i r_i(S) + Nr_0(S).$$

Hence  $r_{\mathcal{R}}$  violates Ingleton's inequality, a contradiction.

Hence, for n sufficiently large, q in (2.1) either has an irreducible factor of large degree or is the product of many factors of low degree.

#### Example 7.4. Consider

$$h_{2,2} = x_1^2 x_2^2 + 4(x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4)(x_1 x_2 x_3 + x_1 x_2 x_4 + x_1 x_3 x_4 + x_2 x_3 x_4).$$

The polynomial  $h_{2,2}$  comes from the bases generating polynomial of the Vámos matroid under the restriction  $x_i = x_{i'}$  for i = 1, ..., 4. Kummer [26] found real symmetric matrices  $A_i$ , i = 1, ..., 4 with  $A_1 + A_2 + A_3 + A_4$  positive definite and a hyperbolic polynomial q of degree 3 with  $\Lambda_+(h_{2,2}) \subseteq \Lambda_+(q)$  such that

$$q(\mathbf{x})h_{2,2}(\mathbf{x}) = \det\left(x_1A_1 + x_2A_2 + x_3A_3 + x_4A_4\right),$$

where

18

$$q(\mathbf{x}) = 32(2x_1 + 3x_2 + 3x_3 + 4x_4)(x_1x_2 + x_1x_3 + 2x_1x_4 + x_2x_4 + x_3x_4).$$

If s = 2 and k = 3 in Theorem 7.3 it follows that there exists no linear and quadratic hyperbolic polynomials  $\ell(\mathbf{x}), q(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_{16}]$  respectively such that  $h_{14,3}(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_{16}]$  has a positive definite representation of the form

$$\ell(\mathbf{x})q(\mathbf{x})h_{14,3}(\mathbf{x}) = \det\left(\sum_{i=1}^{16} x_i A_i\right)$$

with  $\Lambda_+(h_{14,3}) \subseteq \Lambda_+(\ell q)$ .

#### 8. Nonnegative symmetric polynomials

Recall that a polynomial  $P(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  is *nonnegative* if  $P(\mathbf{x}) \geq 0$  for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and it is *symmetric* if it is invariant under the action (permuting the variables) of the symmetric group of order n. In this section we prove that certain symmetric polynomials are nonnegative. This is needed for the proof of Theorem 6.5. The results are interesting in their own right, and they generalize several well known inequalities in the literature.

Recall that a *partition* of a natural number d is a sequence  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ...)$ of natural numbers such that  $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \cdots$  and  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots = d$ . We write  $\lambda \vdash d$  to denote that  $\lambda$  is a partition of d. The *length*,  $\ell(\lambda)$ , of  $\lambda$  is the number of nonzero entries of  $\lambda$ . If  $\lambda$  is a partition and  $\ell(\lambda) \leq n$ , then the *monomial symmetric polynomial*,  $m_{\alpha}$ , is defined as

$$m_{\lambda}(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=\sum x_1^{\beta_1}x_2^{\beta_2}\cdots x_n^{\beta_n},$$

where the sum is over all distinct permutations  $(\beta_1, \beta_2, \ldots, \beta_n)$  of  $(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ . If  $\ell(\lambda) > n$ , we set  $m_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ . If  $k_1, \ldots, k_{\ell}$  are distinct positive integers and  $a_1, \ldots, a_{\ell} \in \mathbb{N}$  we denote by  $k_1^{a_1} k_2^{a_2} \cdots k_{\ell}^{a_{\ell}}$  the unique partition of  $a_1 + \cdots + a_{\ell}$  with exactly  $a_j$  coordinates equal to  $k_j$  for  $1 \leq j \leq \ell$ . The *d*th elementary symmetric polynomial is  $e_d(\mathbf{x}) = m_{1^d}(\mathbf{x})$ , and the *d*th power symmetric polynomial is  $p_d(\mathbf{x}) = m_d(\mathbf{x})$ .

Nonnegative symmetric polynomials have been studied in several areas of mathematics, see [3, 12, 16] and the references therein. We will initially concentrate on nonnegative polynomials of the form

$$\sum_{k=0}^{2r} a_k e_k(\mathbf{x}) e_{2r-k}(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^m,$$
(8.1)

where r is a positive integer and  $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$  for  $0 \leq k \leq 2r$ . Hence these are the nonnegative symmetric polynomials spanned by  $\{m_{2^k 1^{2(r-k)}} : 0 \leq k \leq r\}$ . A classical family of such nonnegative and symmetric polynomials was found already by Newton [33]:

$$\frac{e_r(\mathbf{x})^2}{\binom{n}{r}^2} - \frac{e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})}{\binom{n}{r-1}} \frac{e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})}{\binom{n}{r+1}} \ge 0,$$

for  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^m$  with  $m \leq n$  and  $1 \leq r \leq n-1$ . Letting  $n \to \infty$  in Newton's inequalities we obtain the Laguerre–Turán inequalities (see e.g. [14]):

$$re_r(\mathbf{x})^2 - (r+1)e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0, \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^m, m \ge 1.$$

A different but equivalent view on nonnegative symmetric polynomial is that of inequalities satisfied by the derivatives of a real-rooted polynomial: Let  $\{a_k\}_{k=0}^{2m}$  be a sequence of real numbers. Then the polynomial (8.1) is nonnegative if and only if

$$\sum_{k=0}^{2r} a_k \binom{2r}{k} f^{(k)}(t) f^{(2r-k)}(t) \ge 0, \quad t \in \mathbb{R},$$
(8.2)

holds for all real-rooted polynomials f of degree at most m. Indeed by translation invariance (8.2) holds for all real-rooted polynomials f of degree at most m if and only if (8.2) holds at t = 0 for all real-rooted polynomials f of degree at most m. Hence if  $f(t) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 + x_j t)$ , then the left-hand-side of (8.2) at t = 0 is the same as (8.1) up to a constant factor (2r)!. The following inequality is due to Jensen.

Theorem 8.1 (Jensen [24]).

$$\sum_{k=0}^{2r} (-1)^{r+j} \binom{2r}{k} f^{(k)}(t) f^{(2r-k)}(t) \ge 0, \quad t \in \mathbb{R},$$
(8.3)

for all real-rooted polynomials f.

wh

The inequality (8.3) follows easily from a symmetric function identity as follows

$$\sum_{r=0}^{n} m_{2^{r}}(\mathbf{x}) t^{2r} = \sum_{r=0}^{n} e_{r}(x_{1}^{2}, \dots, x_{n}^{2}) t^{2r}$$

$$= \prod_{j=1}^{n} (1 + x_{j}^{2} t^{2}) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (1 + i x_{j} t) \prod_{j=1}^{n} (1 - i x_{j} t)$$

$$= \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} i^{k} e_{k}(\mathbf{x}) t^{k}\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-i)^{k} e_{k}(\mathbf{x}) t^{k}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{r=0}^{n} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{2^{r}} (-1)^{k+r} e_{k}(\mathbf{x}) e_{2r-k}(\mathbf{x})\right) t^{2r}.$$

Clearly  $m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}) \geq 0$  for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , so that inequality (8.3) follows from

$$m_{2^{r}}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{k=0}^{2^{r}} (-1)^{k+r} e_{k}(\mathbf{x}) e_{2r-k}(\mathbf{x}).$$
(8.4)

**Lemma 8.2.** If r is a positive integer and  $0 \le t \le 2/r$ , then

$$m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}) + tm_{2^{r-1}1^2}(\mathbf{x})$$

is a sum of squares (sos for short), and in particular nonnegative.

*Proof.* Since  $m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x})$  is a sos it suffices to consider t = 2/r, by convexity. Note that

$$m_{2^{r-1}1^2}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{|S|=r-1} e_2(\mathbf{x}^S) \prod_{i \in S} x_i^2,$$
  
ere  $\mathbf{x}^S = \mathbf{x} \setminus \{x_i : i \in S\}$ . Using  $e_2(\mathbf{x}) = e_1(\mathbf{x})^2/2 - p_2(\mathbf{x})/2$   
 $m_{2^{r-1}1^2}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{|S|=r-1} e_1(\mathbf{x}^S)^2 \prod_{i \in S} x_i^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{|S|=r-1} p_2(\mathbf{x}^S) \prod_{i \in S} x_i^2$   
 $= S(\mathbf{x}) - \frac{r}{2} m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}),$ 

where  $S(\mathbf{x})$  is a sum of squares. Indeed

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{|S|=r-1} p_2(\mathbf{x}^S) \prod_{i \in S} x_i^2 = Cm_{2^r}(\mathbf{x})$$

for some C, and setting  $\mathbf{x} = (1, \ldots, 1)$  one sees that

$$\frac{1}{2}\binom{n}{r-1}(n-r+1) = C\binom{n}{r},$$

so that C = r/2. The lemma follows.

Let  $P(\mathbf{x})$  be a symmetric polynomial. Suppose  $P(\mathbf{x}) = Q(e_1(\mathbf{x}), \dots, e_m(\mathbf{x}))$  is the unique expression of P in terms of the elementary symmetric polynomials. If Qis of degree d, let  $H(x_0, x_1, \dots, x_m) = x_0^d Q(x_1/x_0, \dots, x_m/x_0)$  be its homogenization, and let

$$L(P) := H(e_1(\mathbf{x}), 2e_2(\mathbf{x}), \dots, (m+1)e_{m+1}(\mathbf{x}))$$

be the *lift* of P. This operation enables us to lift symmetric nonnegative polynomial inequalities to higher degrees.

**Lemma 8.3.** If P is a symmetric and nonnegative polynomial, then so is its lift L(P).

*Proof.* Note first that if P is nonnegative and symmetric, then the degree of Q above is even. Indeed if  $\mathbf{x}(t) = (t, x_2, \ldots, x_n)$  where  $x_2, \ldots, x_n \in \mathbb{R}$  are generic and t is a variable, then we obtain a univariate nonnegative polynomial  $t \mapsto P(\mathbf{x}(t))$  of degree d. Hence d is even. Now if  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is such that  $e_1(\mathbf{x}) \neq 0$ , then there is a  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $e_k(\mathbf{y}) = (k+1)e_{k+1}(\mathbf{x})/e_1(\mathbf{x})$  for all k. Indeed

$$\frac{1}{e_1(\mathbf{x})}\frac{d}{dt}\prod_{k=1}^n (1+x_kt) = \prod_{k=0}^n (1+y_kt), \quad \text{where } y_n = 0,$$

since the operator d/dt preserves real-rootedness. Thus

$$L(P)(\mathbf{x}) = P(\mathbf{y})$$

and the proof follows.

**Lemma 8.4.** The lift of  $m_{2^{r-1}}(\mathbf{x})$  is

$$r^2 m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}) + 2m_{2^{r-1}1^2}(\mathbf{x}).$$

*Proof.* By (8.4), the lift of  $m_{2^{r-1}}(\mathbf{x})$  is

$$L := \sum_{j=0}^{2r-2} (-1)^{j+r-1} (j+1)(2r-1-j)e_{j+1}(\mathbf{x})e_{2r-1-j}(\mathbf{x})$$
$$= \sum_{j=0}^{2r} (-1)^{j+r} j(2r-j)e_j(\mathbf{x})e_{2r-j}(\mathbf{x}).$$

The coefficient in front of  $m_{2^{k}1^{2}(r-k)}(\mathbf{x})$  in the expansion of  $e_{j}(\mathbf{x})e_{2r-j}(\mathbf{x})$  in the monomial bases is seen to be  $\binom{2r-2k}{j-k}$ . (Look at how many times we get the monomial  $x_{1}^{2}x_{2}^{2}\cdots x_{k}^{2}x_{k+1}x_{k+2}\cdots$  in the expansion of the  $e_{j}(\mathbf{x})e_{2r-j}(\mathbf{x})$ .) Hence

20

the coefficient infront of  $m_{2^{k}1^{2(r-k)}}(\mathbf{x})$  in the expansion of L in the monomial basis is

$$a_k = \sum_{j=0}^{2r} (-1)^{j+r} j(2r-j) \binom{2r-2k}{j-k}.$$

Now  $a_r = r^2$ ,  $a_{r-1} = 2$ , and  $a_k = 0$  otherwise. This follows from the fact that if p is a polynomial of degree d, then

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} (-1)^{j} p(j) \binom{n}{j} = 0$$

whenever n > d.

Our next lemma is a refinement of the Laguerre–Turán inequalities and may be formulated as the Laguerre–Turán inequalities beat Jensen's inequalities (8.3). Lemma 8.5 is also a generalization of [16, Theorem 3], where the case r = 2 was proved. If  $P, Q \in \mathbb{R}[\mathbf{x}]$ , we write  $P \leq Q$  if Q - P is a nonnegative polynomial.

Lemma 8.5. If  $r \geq 1$ , then

$$m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}) \le re_r(\mathbf{x})^2 - (r+1)e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}).$$

*Proof.* The proof is by induction over r. For r = 1 we have equality. Let  $r \ge 2$  and assume the inequality in the case r - 1 by induction. Taking the lift of this inequality and applying Lemmas 8.3 and 8.4, we find that

$$r^{2}m_{2^{r}}(\mathbf{x}) + 2m_{2^{r-1}1^{2}}(\mathbf{x}) \le (r-1)r^{2}e_{r}(\mathbf{x})^{2} - r(r-1)(r+1)e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}).$$

By Lemma 8.2

$$(r^2 - r)m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}) \le r^2 m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}) + 2m_{2^{r-1}1^2}(\mathbf{x}),$$

and the lemma follows.

**Lemma 8.6.** If  $r \ge 2$  is an integer, then

$$(a_r e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}) e_r(\mathbf{x}) - e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}) e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}))^2 \ge C_r e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}) e_r(\mathbf{x}) m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}),$$
(8.5)

where

$$a_r = 3rac{r-1}{r+1} \quad and \quad C_r = 9rac{r-1}{(r+1)^2}.$$

*Proof.* We prove the inequality by induction over  $r \ge 2$ . Assume r = 2. The polynomial  $(t, \mathbf{x}) \mapsto e_4(t, t, x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n)$  is stable, this may for instance be deduced from the Grace-Walsh-Szegő theorem (see Remark 9.3). It specializes to a real-rooted (or identically zero) polynomial when we set  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ :

$$(4e_2(\mathbf{x}) + p_2(\mathbf{x}))t^2 + 4(e_1(\mathbf{x})e_2(\mathbf{x}) + e_3(\mathbf{x}))t + m_{2^2}(\mathbf{x}) + 4e_1(\mathbf{x})e_3(\mathbf{x}).$$

Hence its discriminant is nonnegative, which gives

$$(e_3(\mathbf{x}) + e_1(\mathbf{x})e_2(\mathbf{x}))^2 \ge (e_2(\mathbf{x}) + p_2(\mathbf{x})/4)(m_{2^2}(\mathbf{x}) + 4e_1(\mathbf{x})e_3(\mathbf{x})).$$

To prove (8.5) for r = 2 we may assume  $e_2(\mathbf{x}) > 0$ . Rewriting (8.5) as

$$(e_3(\mathbf{x}) + e_1(\mathbf{x})e_2(\mathbf{x}))^2 \ge e_2(\mathbf{x})(m_{2^2}(\mathbf{x}) + 4e_1(\mathbf{x})e_3(\mathbf{x}))$$

we may assume also  $m_{2^2}(\mathbf{x}) + 4e_1(\mathbf{x})e_3(\mathbf{x}) > 0$ . Then, since  $p_2(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0$ ,

$$(e_3(\mathbf{x}) + e_1(\mathbf{x})e_2(\mathbf{x}))^2 \ge (e_2(\mathbf{x}) + p_2(\mathbf{x})/4)(m_{2^2}(\mathbf{x}) + 4e_1(\mathbf{x})e_3(\mathbf{x}))$$
  
$$\ge e_2(\mathbf{x})(m_{2^2}(\mathbf{x}) + 4e_1(\mathbf{x})e_3(\mathbf{x}))$$

which proves the lemma for r = 2.

Assume that the inequality is true for a given  $r \ge 2$ . We lift the inequality for r and use Lemma 8.4 to get

$$(a_{r}r(r+1)e_{r}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}) - (r-1)(r+2)e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+2}(\mathbf{x}))^{2} \geq C_{r}(r-1)(r+1)^{3}e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})\left(m_{2^{r+1}(\mathbf{x})} + \frac{2}{(r+1)^{2}}m_{2^{r+1}(\mathbf{x})}\right)$$

We may exchange the factor  $m_{2^{r+1}} + (2/(r+1)^2)m_{2^r1^2}$  by something nonnegative and smaller and still get a valid inequality. By Lemma 8.2 we obtain the inequality

$$(a_{r}r(r+1)e_{r}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}) - (r-1)(r+2)e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+2}(\mathbf{x}))^{2} \geq C_{r}(r-1)(r+1)^{3}e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})\frac{r}{r+1}m_{2^{r+1}}(\mathbf{x}).$$

Dividing through by  $(r-1)^2(r+2)^2$  we obtain

$$\left(a_{r}\frac{r(r+1)}{(r-1)(r+2)}e_{r}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}) - e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+2}(\mathbf{x})\right)^{2} \geq C_{r}\frac{r(r+1)^{2}}{(r-1)(r+2)^{2}}e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})m_{2^{r+1}}(\mathbf{x}),$$

which simplifies to the desired inequality for r + 1.

## 

## 9. Proof of Theorem 6.6

The next tool for the proof of Theorem 6.6 is a lemma that enables us to prove hyperbolicity of a polynomial by proving real-rootedness along a few (degenerate) directions.

**Lemma 9.1.** Let  $h \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  and  $\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2 \in \mathbb{C}^n$ . Define d to be the maximum degree of the polynomial  $t \mapsto h(t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{y})$ , where the maximum is taken over all  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{C}^n$ . Let further

$$P(\mathbf{x}) := \lim_{t \to \infty} t^{-d} h(t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, \dots, x_n].$$

Suppose  $S \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n$  and  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in S$  are such that

- (i)  $S + \mathbb{R}\mathbf{v}_2 = S$ , *i.e.*, S is closed under translations by real multiples of  $\mathbf{v}_2$ .
- (ii) S is pathwise connected.
- (iii) The polynomial  $(s,t) \mapsto h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}_0)$  is stable and not identically zero.
- (iv) For each  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ , the polynomials  $s \mapsto h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x})$  and  $s \mapsto P(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x})$  are stable and not identically zero.

Then the polynomial  $(s,t) \mapsto h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x})$  is stable for all  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ .

*Proof.* The proof is by contradiction. Suppose  $\mathbf{x}_1 \in S$  and  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{C}$  are such that  $\operatorname{Im}(\xi) > 0$ ,  $\operatorname{Im}(\eta) > 0$  and

$$h(\xi \mathbf{v}_1 + \eta \mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}_1) = 0.$$

Let  $\mathbf{x}(\theta) : [0,1] \to S$  be a continuous path such that  $\mathbf{x}(0) = \mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}(1) = \mathbf{x}_1$  and let

$$p_{\theta}(t) = h(\xi \mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}(\theta)) = t^d P(\xi \mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x}(\theta)) + O(t^{d-1}),$$

where  $P(\xi \mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x}(\theta)) \neq 0$  by (iv). By assumption all zeros of  $p_0(t)$  are in the closed lower half-plane, while  $p_1(\eta) = 0$  where  $\text{Im}(\eta) > 0$ . Hence, by continuity using

Hurwitz' theorem on the continuity of zeros (see e.g., [11, Footnote 3, p. 96]), a zero will cross the real axis as  $\theta$  runs from 0 to 1. In other words

$$0 = p_{\theta}(\alpha) = h(\xi \mathbf{v}_1 + \alpha \mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}(\theta)),$$

for some  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\theta \in [0, 1]$ . Since  $\alpha \mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}(\theta) \in S$ , by (i), this contradicts (iv).  $\Box$ 

The next theorem is a version of the Grace-Walsh-Szegő coincidence theorem, see [4, Prop. 3.4].

**Theorem 9.2** (Grace-Walsh-Szegő). Suppose  $P(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{C}[\mathbf{x}]$  is a polynomial of degree at most d in the variable  $x_1$ :

$$P(x_1, ..., x_n) = \sum_{k=0}^{d} P_k(x_2, ..., x_n) x_1^k$$

Let Q be the polynomial in the variables  $x_2, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_n$ 

$$Q = \sum_{k=0}^{d} P_k(x_2, \dots, x_n) \frac{e_k(y_1, \dots, y_d)}{\binom{d}{k}}.$$

Then P is stable if and only if Q is stable.

*Remark* 9.3. Note that  $e_k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  is stable, by the Grace–Walsh–Szegő theorem applied to the polynomial  $x_1^k$  considered as a polynomial of degree at most n.

**Lemma 9.4.** If  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $e_k(\mathbf{x}) = e_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}) = 0$  where 0 < k < n, then  $\mathbf{x}$  has at most k - 1 nonzero coordinates.

*Proof.* It is well known that if  $e_k(\mathbf{x}) = e_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ , then  $e_j(\mathbf{x}) = 0$  for all  $k \leq j \leq n$ , see e.g., [6, Example 3.6]. Hence the number of non-zero coordinates of  $\mathbf{x}$  is equal to

$$\max\{0 \le i \le n : e_i(\mathbf{x}) \ne 0\} < k.$$

The following theorem provides families of stable polynomials which are closed under convex sums.

**Theorem 9.5.** Let  $r \geq 2$  be an integer, and let

$$M(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{|S|=r} a(S) \prod_{i \in S} x_i^2 \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \dots, x_n],$$

where  $0 \leq a(S) \leq 1$  for all  $S \subseteq [n]$ , where |S| = r. Then the polynomial

$$4e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{3}{r+1}M(\mathbf{x})$$
(9.1)

is stable.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  and  $\mathbf{x}' = (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$  where  $n \ge 2r + 4$ . Suppose M is of the form described in the statement of the theorem and that additionally no  $x_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 2r + 3$  appears in M. We will prove, by applying Lemma 9.1, that polynomials of the form

$$h(\mathbf{x}) := 4(a_r x_1 e_r(\mathbf{x}') + e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}'))(x_1 e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}') + e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}')) + \frac{3}{r+1}M$$
(9.2)

are stable, where  $a_r$  is defined as in Lemma 8.6. Since any polynomial of the form (9.1) may be obtained from some polynomial of the form (9.2) by setting variables

to zero and relabelling the indices, the stability of polynomials of the form (9.1) follows from Lemma 2.6.

Recall the notation of Lemma 9.1. Let  $\mathbf{v}_1 = \delta_1$ ,  $\mathbf{v}_2 = \delta_2 + \delta_3 + \cdots + \delta_{r+2}$ , and let S be the set of all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that at least r+1 of the coordinates  $\{x_{r+3}, \ldots, x_n\}$  are nonzero. Note that S is pathwise connected and  $S + \mathbb{R}\mathbf{v}_2 = S$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}_0 = \delta_{r+3} + \cdots + \delta_{2r+3}$ . The polynomial

$$q(\mathbf{x}) := 4(a_r x_1 e_r(\mathbf{x}') + e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}'))(x_1 e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}') + e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}'))$$
  
=  $4e_{r+1}(a_r x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)e_{r-1}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ 

is stable by Remark 9.3 and Lemma 2.6. Since  $q(\mathbf{x}_0) > 0$  we know, by Lemma 2.8, that the bivariate polynomial  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}_0) = q(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x}_0)$  is stable and not identically zero. This verifies (iii) of Lemma 9.1. Note that  $P(\mathbf{x})$  is a non-zero constant. Consider

$$h(s\mathbf{v}_{1} + \mathbf{x}) = 4a_{r}e_{r}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}')(s+x_{1})^{2}$$
  
+  $4(a_{r}e_{r}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') + e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}'))(s+x_{1})$   
+  $4e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') + \frac{3}{r+1}M.$ 

We now prove that  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x}) \neq 0$  for each  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ , as a polynomial in s. Assume  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x}) \equiv 0$  for some  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ . Then  $e_r(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}') = 0$ , so suppose first  $e_r(\mathbf{x}') = 0$ . If  $e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') = 0$ , then either  $e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') = e_r(\mathbf{x}') = 0$  or  $e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}') = e_r(\mathbf{x}') = 0$ , which implies  $\mathbf{x}'$  has at most r-1 non-zero coordinates by Lemma 9.4. This contradicts  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ . Hence  $e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') < 0$  by Lemma 8.5. Then  $h(-x_1\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x})$  is equal to

$$4e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') + \frac{3}{r+1}M < 3e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') + \frac{3}{r+1}M \\ \leq 3e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') + \frac{3}{r+1}m_{2^{r}}(\mathbf{x}') \leq 0,$$

by Lemma 8.5, a contradiction. If  $e_r(\mathbf{x}') \neq 0$ , then  $e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}') = 0$ . But then also  $e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}') = 0$ , since  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x}) \equiv 0$ . Hence  $\mathbf{x}'$  has at most r-3 non-zero coordinates Lemma 9.4, which contradicts  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ . We conclude that  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x}) \neq 0$  for  $\mathbf{x} \in S$ .

To apply Lemma 9.1 and prove that  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x})$  is stable for all  $\mathbf{x} \in S$  it remains to prove that  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x})$  is real-rooted. However  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + \mathbf{x})$  is of degree at most two so it suffices to show that its discriminant  $\Delta$  is nonnegative. Now

$$\frac{\Delta}{16} = (a_r e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}')e_r(\mathbf{x}') - e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}')e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}'))^2 - \frac{3}{r+1}a_r e_r(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}')M.$$

If  $e_r(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}') < 0$ , then clearly  $\Delta \ge 0$ , so assume  $e_r(\mathbf{x}')e_{r-2}(\mathbf{x}') \ge 0$ . Then, since  $M(\mathbf{x}') \le m_{2^r}(\mathbf{x}')$ , it follows that  $\Delta \ge 0$  by Lemma 8.6.

Since S is dense in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  we have by Hurwitz' theorem that  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x})$  is stable or identically zero for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . However  $h(\mathbf{v}_2) \neq 0$  so that  $h(s\mathbf{v}_1 + t\mathbf{v}_2 + \mathbf{x})$ is stable for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . In particular h is hyperbolic with respect to  $\mathbf{v}_2$ . Since all Taylor coefficients of h are nonnegative we see that the hyperbolicity cone contains the positive orthant, i.e., h is stable, by Lemma 2.7. Lemma 9.6. Let  $r \geq 2$ . Then

$$e_{2r}(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n) - m_{2r}(\mathbf{x}) = 4(e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x}) + e_{r-3}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+3}(\mathbf{x}) + e_{r-5}(\mathbf{x})e_{r+5}(\mathbf{x}) + \cdots).$$

*Proof.* Note that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{2n} e_k(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n) t^k = \prod_{j=1}^n (1+x_j t)^2 = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{2n} e_k(\mathbf{x}) t^k\right)^2.$$

The coefficient of  $t^{2r}$  is

$$e_{2r}(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n) = \sum_{j=0}^{2r} e_j(\mathbf{x}) e_{2r-j}(\mathbf{x}).$$

The proof follows by combining this with (8.4).

We are now in a position to prove Theorem 6.6 and Theorem 6.5.

Proof of Theorem 6.5. By definition the bases generating polynomial of  $V_H \in \mathcal{V}$  is given by

$$h_{V_H} = \sum_{B \in \mathcal{B}(V_H)} \prod_{i \in B} x_i = e_{2r}(x_1, x_{1'}, \dots, x_n, x_{n'}) - e_r(x_1 x_{1'}, \dots, x_n x_{n'}) + N(\mathbf{x}).$$

where

$$N(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{(i_1, \dots, i_r) \notin E(H)} \prod_{j=1}^r x_{i_j} x_{i'_j}.$$

The polynomial  $h_{V_H}$  is clearly multiaffine and symmetric pairwise in  $x_i, x_{i'}$  for all  $i \in [n]$ . Set  $x_{i'} = x_i$  for all  $1 \le i \le n$  and obtain the polynomial

$$f_{V_H} = e_{2r}(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n) - e_r(x_1^2, \dots, x_n^2) + N(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n).$$

By Lemma 9.6

$$f_{V_H} = 4 \sum_{j=0}^{\lceil r/2 \rceil - 1} e_{r+2j+1}(\mathbf{x}) e_{r-2j-1}(\mathbf{x}) + N(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n).$$

The support of  $e_{r+j}(\mathbf{x})e_{r-j}(\mathbf{x})$  is contained in the support of  $e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x})$  for each  $1 \leq j \leq r$ . Hence  $f_{V_H}$  has the same support as the polynomial

$$W_{V_H} = 4e_{r+1}(\mathbf{x})e_{r-1}(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{3}{r+1}N(x_1, x_1, \dots, x_n, x_n)$$

which in turn is stable by Theorem 9.5. Hence if we replace  $x_i^k$  for k = 0, 1, 2, in  $W_{V_H}$  with  $e_k(x_i, x_{i'})/{\binom{2}{k}}$ , we obtain a polynomial which is stable by the Grace-Walsh-Szegő theorem (Theorem 9.2), and has the same support as  $h_{V_H}$ . Hence  $V_H$  is a WHPP-matroid so  $V_H$  is hyperbolic by Proposition 3.2.

Proof of Theorem 6.6. Recall the notation in the proof of Theorem 6.5. If r = 2, then  $W_{V_G} = f_{V_G}$ , so that  $V_G$  has the half-plane property by the proof of Theorem 6.5.

#### NIMA AMINI AND PETTER BRÄNDÉN

#### 10. Representability and minor closure

The following amended section is not part of the published research article. We begin the section by proving some facts related to the representability of the matroids in the class  $\mathcal{V}$ . The class  $\mathcal{V}$  is not closed under taking minors. Therefore in the final part of the section we determine the minor closure of  $\mathcal{V}$ .

Let H be a d-uniform hypergraph on [n]. Let  $H_j$  denote the hypergraph with vertex set  $V(H_j) = V(H) \setminus j$  and edges  $E(H_j) = \{e \setminus j : e \in E(H), j \in e\}$ . Moreover let  $H^*$  denote the (n - d)-uniform hypergraph on [n] with  $E(H^*) = \{[n] \setminus e : e \in E(H)\}$ . Recall that the *dual* of a matroid M on E, denoted  $M^*$ , is the matroid on E whose bases are the complements of the bases of M. The *free extension* of a matroid M with rank function  $r_M : 2^{E(M)} \to \mathbb{N}$ , by an element  $e \notin E(M)$ , is given by the matroid, denoted M + e, on  $E(M) \sqcup e$  with rank function

$$r_{M+e}(S) = \begin{cases} r_M(S), & \text{if } e \notin S, \\ r_M(S \setminus e) + 1, & \text{if } e \in S \text{ and } r_M(S \setminus e) < d, \\ d, & \text{if } r_M(S \setminus e) = d. \end{cases}$$

The free coextension of M by e is given by the matroid  $M \times e = (M^* + e)^*$ . For  $i \in [n]$  we shall also use the convention that (i')' = i. Below we list some basic properties of the matroid class  $\mathcal{V}$ .

**Proposition 10.1.** If H,  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  are d-uniform hypergraphs on [n], then

- (i)  $V_{H_1} \cong V_{H_2}$  if and only if  $H_1 \cong H_2$ ,
- (ii)  $([n] \cup [n]', \mathcal{I}(V_{H_1}) \cap \mathcal{I}(V_{H_2})) = V_{H_1 \cup H_2},$
- (iii)  $([n] \cup [n]', \mathcal{I}(V_{H_1}) \cup \mathcal{I}(V_{H_2})) = V_{H_1 \cap H_2},$
- (iv)  $V_H^* = V_{H^*}$ . In particular  $V_H$  is self-dual if and only if  $H \cong H^*$ ,
- (v)  $V_H \setminus j = V_{H \setminus j} + j'$ ,
- (vi)  $V_H/j = V_{H_j} \times j'$ ,
- (vii)  $V_H$  has Tutte-polynomial,

$$T_{V_H}(x,y) = |E(H)|(xy-x-y) + \sum_{i=1}^{2d} \binom{2n-i-1}{2n-2d-1} x^i + \sum_{j=1}^{2n-2d} \binom{2n-j-1}{2d-1} y^j.$$

*Proof.* For (i), suppose that  $\Phi : E(V_{H_1}) \to E(V_{H_2})$  is a an isomorphism between  $V_{H_1}$  and  $V_{H_2}$ . Then we have  $\Phi(i') = \Phi(i)'$  for all  $i \in [n]$  since i is included in a circuit hyperplane of  $V_{H_1}$  if and only if i' is included in a circuit hyperplane of  $V_{H_1}$ . Hence

$$\phi: V(H_1) \to V(H_2)$$
$$i \mapsto \begin{cases} j, & \text{if } \Phi(i) = j, \\ j, & \text{if } \Phi(i) = j', \end{cases}$$

is a hypergraph isomorphism between  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  since  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_r\} \in E(H_1)$  if an only if  $\{i_1, i'_1, \ldots, i_r, i'_r\}$  is a circuit hyperplane in  $V_{H_1}$  if and only if  $\{\Phi(i_1), \Phi(i'_1), \ldots, \Phi(i_r), \Phi(i'_r)\}$  is a circuit hyperplane in  $V_{H_2}$  if and only if  $\{\phi(i_1), \ldots, \phi(i_r)\} \in E(H_2)$ .

Conversely if  $\phi: V(H_1) \to V(H_2)$  is a hypergraph isomorphism, then clearly

$$\Phi: E(V_{H_1}) \to E(V_{H_2})$$
$$i \mapsto \phi(i)$$
$$i' \mapsto \phi(i)'$$

is an isomorphism between the sparse paving matroids  $V_{H_1}$  and  $V_{H_2}$  since  $\Phi$  bijectively maps circuit hyperplanes to circuit hyperplanes.

The statements (ii) and (iii) are clear since both sides are readily seen to have the same independent sets.

For (iv), we use the circuit-hyperplane correspondence between a matroid M on E and its dual  $M^*$ . Namely, C is a circuit in M if and only if E - C is a hyperplane in  $M^*$  and H is a hyperplane in M if and only if  $E \setminus C$  is a circuit in  $M^*$  (see [34, Prop. 2.16]). This shows that sparse paving matroids are closed under duality. In particular C is a circuit hyperplane in  $V_H$  if and only if  $E(V_H) \setminus C$  is a circuit hyperplane in the sparse paving matroid  $V_H^*$ . Hence  $V_H^* = V_{H^*}$  which proves (iv).

For (v), let  $S \subseteq E(V_H) \setminus j$ . If  $j' \notin S$ , then

$$r_{V_{H\setminus j}+j'}(S) = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S) = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S).$$

Suppose therefore  $j' \in S$ . If  $r_{V_{H \setminus j}+j'}(S \setminus j') < k$ , then

$$r_{V_{H\setminus j}+j'}(S) = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S\setminus j') + 1 = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S\setminus j') + 1 = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S).$$

Otherwise if  $r_{V_{H\setminus j}+j'}(S\setminus j')=k$ , then

$$k = r_{V_{H\setminus j}+j'}(S) = r_{V_{H\setminus j}+j'}(S\setminus j') = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S\setminus j') = r_{V_{H\setminus j}}(S\setminus j'),$$

so  $r_{V_H \setminus j}(S) = k$ . Hence  $r_{V_H \setminus j+j'}(S) = r_{V_H \setminus j}(S)$  for all  $S \subseteq E(V_H) \setminus j$  which establishes (v). Statement (vi) now follows from (iv) and (v) via

$$V_H/j = (V_H^* \setminus j)^* = (V_{H^*} \setminus j)^* = (V_{H^* \setminus j} + j')^* = V_{H^* \setminus j}^* \times j' = V_{(H^* \setminus j)^*} \times j' = V_{H_j} \times j'$$

For (vii), note that the uniform matroid  $U_{2n,2d}$  on 2n elements of rank 2d is obtained from  $V_H$  via a sequence of |E(H)| circuit hyperplane relaxations. Hence (vii) follows from the fact that

$$T_M(x,y) = xy - x - y + T_{M'}(x,y)$$

where M' is the matroid obtained from M by relaxing a circuit hyperplane, and

$$T_{U_{n,d}}(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \binom{n-i-1}{n-d-1} x^i + \sum_{j=1}^{n-d} \binom{n-j-1}{d-1} y^j,$$

see [30].

Remark 10.2. The class  $\mathcal{V}$  is seen not to be closed under minors, direct sums and matroid unions.

Although  $V_H$  does not have the half-plane property for hypergraphs H in general, a simple consequence of Proposition 10.1 (iv) is the following.

**Proposition 10.3.** Let H be a d-uniform hypergraph on [n]. If  $n \leq d+2$ , then  $V_H$  has half-plane property.

Proof. Suppose n = d + 2. By Proposition 10.1 (iv) we have that  $V_H^* = V_{H^*}$  where  $H^*$  is a 2-uniform hypergraph on [n] (i.e. a graph). Thus  $V_H$  has half-plane property if and only if  $V_{H^*}$  has half-plane property by closure under duality [11]. Hence  $V_H$  has half-plane property by Theorem 6.6. Finally if n < d + 2 then via free extension  $V_H$  is a minor of a matroid  $V_{H'}$  with |V(H')| = d + 2. Since the half-plane property is closed under taking minors [11], the result follows.

Clearly any matroid  $V_H \in \mathcal{V}$  in which the Vámos matroid  $V_8$  is a minor cannot be representable (and necessarily fails to satisfy Ingleton's inequality). Hence Theorem 6.5 provides an infinite family of hyperbolic matroids which are not representable. By Proposition 10.1 we have that  $V_H \setminus j$  and  $V_H/j$  are representable if and only if  $V_{H\setminus j}$  and  $V_{H_j}$  are respectively representable. It follows that every non-representable matroid  $V_H$  has a minimal excluded minor for representability of the form  $V_{H'}$  in its minor hierarchy for some hypergraph H'.

A natural question is which matroids in  $\mathcal{V}$  are representable/non-representable? Below we identify a class of matroids in  $\mathcal{V}$  which are guaranteed to be representable over any infinite field.

**Theorem 10.4.** Let H be a d-uniform hypergraph on [n] and let  $\mathbb{F}$  be an infinite field. Suppose  $j \in [n]$  such that  $j \in e$  for at most one  $e \in E(H)$ . Then  $V_H$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -representable if and only if  $V_{H \setminus j}$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -representable.

Proof. If  $V_H$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -representable, then  $V_{H\setminus j}$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -representable by Proposition (v) since representability is closed under taking minors. Conversely suppose  $V_{H\setminus j}$  is representable over  $\mathbb{F}$ . If  $j \notin e$  for all  $e \in E(H)$ , then  $V_H = (V_{H\setminus j} + j) + j'$  so the statement follows since representability is closed under taking free extensions. Therefore suppose  $j \in [n]$  belongs to a unique  $e \in E(H)$ . If  $n \leq d$  then the proposition is clear so we may assume n > d. By relabelling if necessary we may assume j = n. Let  $u_1, u_{1'} \dots, u_{n-1}, u_{(n-1)'}$  be vectors in a 2d-dimensional vector space V over  $\mathbb{F}$  representing the elements  $E_{n-1} = \{1, 1', \dots, n-1, (n-1)'\}$  of  $V_{H\setminus j}$ . Since  $\mathbb{F}$  is infinite, V cannot be a union of finitely many proper subspaces, so we may choose

$$u_n \in V \setminus \bigcup_{i_1,\ldots,i_{2d-2} \in E_{n-1}} \langle u_{i_1},\ldots,u_{i_{2d-2}} \rangle,$$

where  $\langle u_{i_1}, \ldots, u_{i_{2d-2}} \rangle$  denotes the linear span of the vectors  $u_{i_1}, \ldots, u_{i_{2d-2}}$  over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Let

$$U = \langle u_n \rangle \oplus \langle u_i, u_{i'} : i \in e \setminus n \rangle.$$

By modularity we have

$$\dim (U \cap \langle u_{i_1}, \dots, u_{i_{2d-1}} \rangle) = \dim(U) + \dim(\langle u_{i_1}, \dots, u_{i_{2d-1}} \rangle) - \dim(U + \langle u_{i_1}, \dots, u_{i_{2d-1}} \rangle)$$
  
$$\leq (2d-1) + (2d-1) - 2d < 2d - 1.$$

for all  $i_1, \ldots, i_{2d-1} \in E$ . Thus  $U \neq \langle u_{i_1}, \ldots, u_{i_{2d-1}} \rangle$  for all  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_{2d-1}\} \neq \{n\} \cup \{i, i' : i \in e \setminus n\}$ . Therefore we may choose

$$u_{n'} \in U \setminus \bigcup_{\substack{i_1, \dots, i_{2d-1} \in E_{n-1} \cup \{n\} \\ \{i_1, \dots, i_{2d-1}\} \neq \{n\} \cup \{i, i': i \in e \setminus n\}}} \langle u_{i_1}, \dots, u_{i_{2d-1}} \rangle.$$



FIGURE 5. The matroid  $V_H$  in the figure is representable since H is a tree graph.

It follows that  $\langle u_i, u_{i'} : i \in e \rangle$  has rank 2d - 1, and for any other subset containing  $u_n$  or  $u_{n'}$  of size at most 2r the rank is equal to the cardinality of the spanning set. Hence  $u_1, u_{1'}, \ldots, u_n, u_{n'}$  are vectors in V representing  $V_H$ .

**Corollary 10.5.** If G is a forest then  $V_G$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -representable for any infinite field  $\mathbb{F}$ .

*Proof.* If G is the empty graph forest then  $V_G \cong U_{2n,4}$  which is representable over  $\mathbb{F}$ . If G is non-empty then the statement follows by removing a leaf in any tree-component and arguing by induction applying Theorem 10.4.

If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a class of matroids, then denote by  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$  the *minor closure* of the class  $\mathcal{A}$ , that is, the smallest class that contains all minors of matroids in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Consider the following class:

**Definition 10.6.** Let  $\mathcal{C}$  denote the class of sparse paving matroids M with  $E(M) \subseteq [n] \cup [n]'$  having circuit hyperplanes  $C_1, \ldots, C_k$  and a set  $S \subseteq \bigcap_{t=1}^k C_t$  such that

- (i)  $i \in S$  implies  $i' \notin E(M)$ ,
- (ii)  $i \in C_t \setminus S$  if and only if  $i' \in C_t \setminus S$  for all  $t = 1, \ldots, k$ .

Remark 10.7. Note that the definition implies that S is unique. Indeed suppose  $S_1, S_2 \subseteq \bigcap_{t=1}^k C_t$  both satisfy conditions (i) and (ii). If  $j \in S_1 \setminus S_2$ , then on one hand  $j' \notin E(M)$ , and on the other hand  $j \in C_t \setminus S_2$  for all  $t = 1, \ldots, k$ , so  $j' \in C_t \setminus S_2 \subseteq E(M)$  for all  $t = 1, \ldots, k$ . This gives a contradiction. Hence  $S_1 = S_2$ .

**Lemma 10.8.** The matroid class C is minor closed, i.e.,  $C = \overline{C}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  be a matroid with circuit hyperplanes  $C_1, \ldots, C_k$  and let  $i \in E(M)$ . We distinguish between three cases:

Case 1. Suppose  $i \in E(M) \setminus \bigcup_{t=1}^{k} C_t$ . Clearly  $M \setminus i$  is a matroid with the same set of circuits and therefore belongs to C. The matroid M/i has no circuit hyperplanes since *i* belongs to no circuit hyperplane of *M*. Hence M/i is a uniform matroid which again belongs to C.

Case 2. Suppose  $i \in S$ . Then  $M \setminus i$  has no circuit hyperplanes since i belongs to every circuit hyperplane of M. Thus  $M \setminus i$  is a uniform matroid and therefore belongs to C. Since  $i \in S$  the circuit hyperplanes of M/i are given by  $C_t \setminus i$  for  $t = 1, \ldots, k$ . Hence the axioms of C remain intact with  $S \setminus i \subseteq \bigcap_{t=1}^k C_t \setminus i$ .

Case 3. Suppose  $i \in C_t \setminus S$  for  $t \in I$  where  $I \subseteq [k]$ . The remaining circuit hyperplanes in  $M \setminus i$  are given by  $\{C_t : t \in [k] \setminus I\}$  which are easily seen to satisfy the axioms of the class  $\mathcal{C}$ . The circuit hyperplanes in M/i are given by  $\{C_t \setminus i : t \in I\}$  and the axioms of  $\mathcal{C}$  are satisfied with  $S \cup \{i'\} \subseteq \bigcap_{i \in I} C_t \setminus i$ .

Hence  $\mathcal{C}$  is minor closed.

**Theorem 10.9.** The minor closure of  $\mathcal{V}$  is  $\mathcal{C}$ , i.e.,  $\overline{\mathcal{V}} = \mathcal{C}$ .

Proof. Certainly  $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$  since the matroids in  $\mathcal{V}$  are instances of matroids in  $\mathcal{C}$ with  $S = \emptyset$ . Hence by Lemma 10.8 we have  $\overline{\mathcal{V}} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{C}} = \mathcal{C}$ . Conversely let  $M \in \mathcal{C}$ and suppose M has circuit hyperplanes  $C_1, \ldots, C_k$ . Let  $T = (S \cup S') \cap [n]$  and  $e_t = (C_t \cup C'_t) \cap [n]$  for  $t = 1, \ldots, k$ . By definition  $|C_t \setminus S| = 2l$  for all  $t = 1, \ldots, k$ for some  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus  $|e_1| = \cdots = |e_k| = |T| + l$ . Consider the matroid  $V_H \in \mathcal{V}$ where H is the (|T|+l)-uniform hypergraph on [n] with edges  $e_1, \ldots, e_k$ . It follows that M is a minor of  $V_H$ . Indeed since  $S \cup S' \subseteq \bigcap_{t=1}^k (e_t \cup e'_t)$ , we find that the circuit hyperplanes of  $V_H/S'$  are given by  $C_1, \ldots, C_k$ . Finally delete all elements in  $V_H/S'$  belonging to  $U = [n] \cup [n]' \setminus E(M)$ . Then  $M = (V_H/S') \setminus U$ . Hence  $\overline{\mathcal{V}} \supseteq \mathcal{C}$ .

Remark 10.10. We remark that  $\mathcal{C}$  is also closed under taking duals. Indeed if  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  with circuit hyperplanes  $C_1, \ldots, C_k$ , then  $M^*$  has circuit hyperplanes  $E(M) \setminus C_t$  for  $t = 1, \ldots, k$  which together with the unique maximal subset  $S \subseteq E(M) \setminus \bigcup_{t=1}^k C_t$  such that  $i \in S \Rightarrow i' \notin E(M)$  satisfies the axioms of  $\mathcal{C}$ .

# Corollary 10.11. The class C consists of hyperbolic matroids.

*Proof.* By Theorem 6.5 the class  $\mathcal{V}$  consists of hyperbolic matroids. Since the class of hyperbolic matroids is minor closed the statement follows by Theorem 10.9.  $\Box$ 

Acknowledgements. We thank the anonymous referee for carefully reading the paper and for several suggestions that improved the exposition of the paper.

## References

- N. Amini, Spectrahedrality of hyperbolicity cones of multivariate matching polynomials, preprint arXiv:1611.06104 (2016)
- [2] G. Birkhoff, Lattice Theory, Third Edition, Amer. Math. Soc. 25 (1967)
- [3] G. Blekherman, C. Riener, Symmetric nonnegative forms and sums of squares, arXiv:1205.3102, (2012)
- [4] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, The Lee-Yang and Pólya-Schur programs I. Linear operators preserving stability, Invent. Math. 177 (2009), 521-569.
- [5] J. Borcea, P. Brändén, Multivariate Pólya–Schur classification problems in the Weyl algebra, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 101 (2010), 73–104.
- [6] P. Brändén, Polynomials with the half-plane property and matroid theory, Adv. Math. 216 (2007), 302-320.
- [7] P. Brändén, Obstructions to determinantal representability, Adv. Math. 226 (2011), 1202– 1212.

- [8] P. Brändén, Hyperbolicity cones of elementary symmetric polynomials are spectrahedral, Optim. Lett. 8 (2014), 1773–1782.
- [9] P. Brändén, R. S. Gonzáles D'Léon, On the half-plane property and the Tutte group of a matroid, J. Combin. Theory Ser. B 100. 5 (2010), 485-492.
- [10] S. Burton, C. Vinzant, Y. Youm, A real stable extension of the Vamos matroid polynomial, arXiv:1411.2038, (2014).
- [11] Y. Choe, J. Oxley, A. Sokal, D. Wagner, Homogeneous multivariate polynomials with the half-plane property, Adv. in Appl. Math. 32 (2004), no 1-2, 88-187.
- [12] M. D. Choi, T. Y. Lam, B. Reznick, Even symmetric sextics, Math. Z. 195 (1987), 559–580.
- [13] C. B. Chua, Relating homogeneous cones and positive definite cones via T -algebras, SIAM J. Optim. 14 (2003), 500–506.
- [14] T. Craven, G. Csordas, Jensen polynomials and the Turán and Laguerre inequalities, Pacific J. Math. 136 (1989), 241–260.
- [15] R. Dougherty, C. Freiling, K. Zeger, Linear rank inequalities on five or more variables, arXiv:0910.0284, (2010).
- [16] W. H. Foster, I. Krasikov, Inequalities for real-root polynomials and entire functions, Adv. in Appl. Math. 29 (2002), no. 1, 102–114.
- [17] J. Faraut, A. Korányi, Analysis on symmetric cones, Oxford University Press, New York, (1994).
- [18] M. Günaydin, C. Piron, H.Ruegg, Moufang plane and octonionic quantum mechanics, Commun. Math. Phys. 61 (1978), 69-85.
- [19] B. Grünbaum, Configurations of points and lines, AMS, Providence, Rhode Island (2009).
- [20] L. Gurvits, Combinatorial and algorithmic aspects of hyperbolic polynomials, arXiv:math/0404474, (2005).
- [21] L. Gårding, An inequality for hyperbolic polynomials, J. Math. Mech 8 (1959), 957-965.
- [22] J. W. Helton, V. Vinnikov, Linear matrix inequality representation of sets, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 60 (2007), 654-674.
- [23] W. A. Ingleton, Representation of matroids, Combinatorial Mathematics and its Applications (1971), 149-167.
- [24] J. L. W. V. Jensen, Recherches sur la theorie des equations, Acta Math. 36 (1913) 181–195.
- [25] P. Jordan, J. von Neumann, E.Wigner, On an algebraic generalization of the quantum mechanical formalism, Ann. Math. 35 (1934), 29-64.
- [26] M. Kummer, A note on the hyperbolicity cone of the specialized Vámos polynomial, arXiv:1306.4483, (2013).
- [27] M. Kummer, Determinantal Representations and Bézoutians, arXiv:1308.5560, (2013).
- [28] P. Lax, Differential equations, difference equations and matrix theory Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 11 (1958), 175–194.
- [29] A. Lewis, P. Parrilo, M. Ramana, The Lax conjecture is true, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 133 (2005), 2495–2499.
- [30] C. Merino, M. Ramírez-Ibáñez, G. Rodríguez-Sánchez The Tutte polynomial of some matroids, Int. J. Comb. 2012 (2012), Article ID 430859.
- [31] T. Netzer, R. Sanyal, Smooth hyperbolicity cones are spectrahedral shadows, Math. Program. 153 (2015), no. 1, Ser. B, 213–221.
- [32] T. Netzer, A. Thom, Polynomials with and without determinantal representations, Linear Algebra Appl. 437 (2012), 1579–1595.
- [33] I. Newton, Arithmetica universalis: sive de compositione et resolutione arithmetica liber (1707).
- [34] J. Oxley, Matroid theory, volume 21 of Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, second edition, (2011).
- [35] R. Pemantle, Hyperbolicity and stable polynomials in combinatorics and probability, Current developments in mathematics, 2011, 57–123, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2012.
- [36] J. Renegar, Hyperbolic programs, and their derivative relaxations, Found. Comput. Math., 6 (2006), 59–79.
- [37] R. T. Rockafellar, Convex analysis, Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 28 Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J. 1970.
- [38] J. Saunderson, A spectrahedral representation of the first derivative relaxation of the positive definite cone, preprint arXiv:1707.09150 (2017)

- [39] V. Vinnikov, LMI representations of convex semialgebraic sets and determinantal representations of algebraic hypersurfaces: past, present, and future, Mathematical methods in systems, optimization, and control, 325–349, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 222, Birkhauser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, (2012).
- [40] D. G. Wagner, Multivariate stable polynomials: theory and applications, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 48 (2011), 53–84.
- [41] D. G. Wagner, Y. Wei, A criterion for the half-plane property, Discrete Math. 309 (2009), 1385-1390.

Department of Mathematics, Royal Institute of Technology, SE-100 44 Stockholm, Sweden

E-mail address: namini@kth.se, pbranden@kth.se